
Michelle Morris, 
Managing Director / Rheolwr Gyfarwyddwr 

 
T: 01495 357785 Ext./Est: 7785 

 
E: committee.services@blaenau-gwent.gov.uk 
 
Contact:/Cysylltwch â: Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 

 

 
 

 

MAE HWN YN GYFARFOD Y MAE GAN Y CYHOEDD HAWL EI FYNYCHU  
 

 
Dydd Gwener, 10 Medi 2021 
 
Annwyl Syr/Madam  
 
PWLLGOR CRAFFU ADFYWIO 
 
Cynhelir cyfarfod o’r Pwllgor Craffu Adfywio yn Siambr y Cyngor, Canolfan 
Ddinesig on Dydd Mercher, 15fed Medi, 2021 am 10.00 am. 
 
Yn gywir 
 

 
Michelle Morris  
Rheolwr Gyfarwyddwr 
 
AGENDA  
 
1.   CYFIEITHU AR Y PRYD 

 
 

 Mae croeso i chi ddefnyddio’r Gymraeg yn y cyfarfod, 
ond mae angen o leiaf 3 diwrnod gwaith o hysbysiad 
ymlaen llaw os dymunwch wneud hynny. Darperir 
gwasanaeth cyfieithu ar y pryd os gwneir cais. 
 

 

2.   YMDDIHEURIADAU 
 

 

 Derbyn ymddiheuriadau. 
 

 

3.   DATGANIADAU BUDDIANT A GODDEFEBAU 
 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 Derbyn datganiadau buddiant a goddefebau. 
 

 

4.   CYFARFOD ARBENNIG O’R PWYLLGOR CRAFFU 
ADFYWIO 
 

5 - 10 

 Derbyn cofnodion y cyfarfod arbenig o’r Pwyllgor Craffu 
Adfywio a gynhaliwyd ar 9 Mehefin 2021. 
 
(Dylid nodi y cyflwynir y cofnodion er pwyntiau cywirdeb 
yn unig). 
 

 

5.   PWYLLGOR CRAFFU ADFYWIO 
 

11 - 20 

 Derbyn cofnodion y cyfarfod o’r Pwyllgor Craffu Adfywio 
a gynhaliwyd ar 30 Mehefin 2021. 
 
(Dylid nodi y cyflwynir y cofnodion er pwyntiau cywirdeb 
yn unig). 
 

 

6.   DALEN WEITHREDU – 30 MEHEFIN 2021 
 

21 - 30 

 Derbyn y Ddalen Weithredu 

 
 

7.   CYFARFOD ARBENNIG O’R PWYLLGOR CRAFFU 
ADFYWIO 
 

31 - 36 

 Derbyn cofnodion y cyfarfod arbennig o’r Pwyllgor 
Craffu Adfywio a gynhaliwyd ar 15 Gorffennaf 2021. 
 
(Dylid nodi y cyflwynir y cofnodion er pwyntiau cywirdeb 
yn unig). 
 

 

8.   ADRODDIAD CYNNYDD AR Y CYNLLUN 
DATGARBONEIDDIO 
 

37 - 96 

 Ystyried adroddiad y Rheolwr Gyfarwyddwr. 
 

 

9.   ADRODDIAD PERFFORMIAD ADFYWIO A 
DATBLYGU 
 

97 - 124 

 Ystyried adroddiad y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Adfywio 
a Gwasanaethau Cymunedol. 
 

 

10.   BUDDSODDIAD MEWN DATBLYGU MICRO-HYDRO 
 

125 - 146 

 Ystyried adroddiad y Rheolwr Tîm Cyfleoedd Adfywio. 
 

 

11.   DULL DARPARU PARTNERIAETH – CANOL TREFI 
 

147 - 156 

Page 2



 Ystyried adroddiad y Rheolwr Tîm Cyfleoedd Adfywio. 
 

 

12.   BLAENRAGLEN GWAITH: 3 TACHWEDD 2021 
 

157 - 160 

 Ystyried yr adroddiad. 
 

 

 
At: Cynghorwyr J. Hill (Cadeirydd) 

G. A. Davies (Is-gadeirydd) 
M. Cross 
M. Cook 
G. L. Davies 
P. Edwards 
H. McCarthy 
K. Hayden 
S. Healy 
W. Hodgins 
J. C. Morgan 
L. Parsons 
G. Paulsen 
K. Rowson 
B. Willis 

 Pob Aelod arall (er gwybodaeth) 
Rheolwr Gyfarwyddwr 
Prif Swyddogion 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNTY BOROUGH OF BLAENAU GWENT 
 

REPORT TO: THE CHAIR AND MEMBERS OF THE 
REGENERATION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

  
SUBJECT: SPECIAL REGENERATION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

9TH JUNE, 2021 
  
REPORT OF: DEMOCRATIC & COMMITTEE SUPPORT OFFICER 

 

 
PRESENT:  COUNCILLOR J. HILL (CHAIR) 
 

Councillors G.A. Davies 
  M. Cook 
  M. Cross 

P. Edwards 
K. Hayden 
S. Healy 
W. Hodgins 
J.C. Morgan 
C. Meredith (substituting for S. Healy) 
K. Rowson 
B. Willis 

       
AND:   Corporate Director Regeneration & Community 

Services 
Head of Regeneration & Development 

   Service Manager Business & Regeneration 
Team Manager, Connected Communities 
Marketing & Communications Officer 

   Scrutiny & Democratic Officer/Advisor 
    

 
ITEM 

 
SUBJECT 
 

 
ACTION 

No. 1 SIMULTANEOUS TRANSLATION 
 
It was noted that no requests had been received for the 
simultaneous translation service. 
 

 

No. 2 APOLOGIES 
 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



Apologies for absence were reported for Councillor L. 
Parsons and the Corporate Director of Social Services.  
 

No. 3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND DISPENSATIONS 
 
The following declaration of interest was reported: 
 
Councillor G. Paulsen – Item No. 5 Community Renewal 
Fund (CRF) 
 

 

No. 4 TIME OF FUTURE MEETINGS 
 
The Committee AGREED that future meetings continue to 
be held at 10.00 a.m. 
 

 

No. 5 COMMUNITY RENEWAL FUND (CRF) 
 
Having regard to the views expressed by the Proper Officer 
regarding the public interest test, that on balance the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the public 
interest in disclosing the information and that the report 
should be exempt.  
 
RESOLVED that the public be excluded whilst this item of 
business is transacted as it is likely there would be a 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 14, 
Part 1, Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act, 1972 (as 
amended).  
 

Consideration was given to report of the Corporate Director 
Regeneration & Community Services. 
 
The Team Leader Connected Communities presented the 
report which provided an update on the Community 
Renewal Fund and associated local project assessment 
process.  The report also outlined the proposed project 
shortlist that would form the Blaenau Gwent CRF 
application to UK Government; and recommend that the 
Executive formally endorse BGCBC involvement in the 
Regional Employability Project Proposal (CELT).  The 
reported also provided an update in respect of the UK 
Levelling Up Fund and the Council’s submission 
preparation, and further details of this bid would be subject 
to a further report. 

 

Page 6



 

The Officer then went through the report and highlighted the 
key points contained therein. 
 
A Member asked whether there would be opportunity to 
work with RSL’s to potentially bring in investment for the 
Borough’s housing estates. 
 
The Officer explained that the timescale for submitting 
applications was challenging as they had to be submitted by 
20th May, 2021.  RSL’s would have been provided the 
opportunity to put forward proposals but none were 
received.   
 
In response to a further question raised by the Member, the 
Officer said the funding was available for pilot projects 
deliverable within 2021/22.  The UK Government would then 
learn from these projects and test the different approaches 
on a 1 year basis. 
 
Another Member asked whether it was possible to combine 
some of the projects listed in the report.  The Officer said it 
would be up to individual partners to start those discussions, 
but unfortunately the tight timescales did not allow for that to 
happen.  The Officer also confirmed that all projects were 
scored against the same criteria based on local strategic 
priorities. 
 
A Member referred to the figure highlighted in section 2.18 
of the report and asked how this would be allocated.  He 
also referred to the CELT and enquired as to the functions 
of the group and the Council’s representation.   
 
He then referred to the fact that the successful projects 
would receive funding in two tranches, and asked there 
would be any funding implications for the Council in drawing 
down the second tranche of funding in the event of the 
project not delivering the anticipated outcomes. 
 
In response the Corporate Director Regeneration & 
Community Services said the funding identified in section 
2.18 of the report would be used to support development of 
the CRF.  In relation to CELT he said this stemmed from 
work happening across the region and was established to 

Page 7



look at employability programmes.  If the report was 
endorsed, the Council would sit on that group and ensure 
that discussions at a regional level are replicated locally. 
 
The Team Leader Connected Communities confirmed that a 
plan would be put in place to safeguard the risk of non-
delivery of a project to prevent recovery of any monies. 
 
In response to a comment made by a Member regarding 
engagement with local businesses, the Officer pointed out 
that this was one of many funds administered by UK 
Government and WG over the last year in response to the 
Covid pandemic.  She confirmed that Officers had continued 
to engage and support the business community, and whilst 
this activity had been held via Microsoft Teams due to Covid 
restrictions, she was confident that the support provided 
during the last year had been beneficial to local businesses. 
 
A Member referred to section 5.2.3 of the report, namely 
staff resources, and the Corporate Director confirmed that a 
piece of work was being done to determine what resources 
were needed.   He said when the initial stage was 
completed and targeted projects had been agreed, then 
discussions would take place with UK Government officials 
regarding the delivery arrangements for projects, and at this 
point the Council would have a clearer understanding of the 
scale of resources required. 
 
A discussion ensued when a Member asked whether it was 
intended to seek Members views on projects, and the 
Corporate Director confirmed that when the CRF was set 
up, the next stage would be Member engagement around 
certain options for the Level Up Fund. 
 
The Committee AGREED to recommend that the report 
which contained information relating to the 
financial/business affairs of persons other than the Authority 
be accepted, and supported Option 2, namely:- 
 

 That the Scrutiny Committee recommend approval by 
the Executive Committee of the proposed project 
shortlist which would form the Blaenau Gwent CRF 
application to UK Government; and  

 

Page 8



 That the Scrutiny Committee recommend approval by 
the Executive, involvement in the Regional 
Employability Project Proposal (CELT). 

 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNTY BOROUGH OF BLAENAU GWENT 
 

REPORT TO: THE CHAIR AND MEMBERS OF THE 
REGENERATION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

  
SUBJECT: REGENERATION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 

30TH JUNE, 2021 
  
REPORT OF: DEMOCRATIC & COMMITTEE SUPPORT OFFICER 

 

 
PRESENT:  COUNCILLOR J. HILL (CHAIR) 
 

Councillors G.A. Davies 
  M. Cook 
  P. Edwards 

K. Hayden 
S. Healy 
W. Hodgins 
J.C. Morgan 
L. Parsons 
G. Paulsen 
K. Rowson 

       
AND:   Corporate Director Regeneration & Community 

Services 
   Service Manager Business & Regeneration 

Team Manager, Regeneration Opportunities 
Marketing & Communications Officer 

   Scrutiny & Democratic Officer/Advisor 
    

 
ITEM 

 
SUBJECT 
 

 
ACTION 

No. 1 SIMULTANEOUS TRANSLATION 
 
It was noted that no requests had been received for the 
simultaneous translation service. 
 

 

No. 2 APOLOGIES 
 
Apologies for absence were reported for Councillor B. Willis 
and the Head of Regeneration & Development.  
 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



No. 3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND DISPENSATIONS 
 
No declarations of interest or dispensations were reported. 
 

 

No. 4 REGENERATION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
The minutes of the special Regeneration Scrutiny 
Committee held on 28th April, 2021 were submitted. 
 
A Member referred p.7 of the minutes, i.e. the Officer’s 
response to a question raised by a Member regarding the 
rail link improvements and the £70m loan.  He said he had 
listened to the recording of the meeting, and reported that 
the Officer did not refer to the £70m in her response, but 
stated that ‘this was separate money for each Local 
Authority to work on projects alongside the railway renewal’. 
 
The Committee AGREED, subject to the foregoing, that the 
minutes be accepted as a true record of proceedings. 
 

 

No. 5 ACTION SHEET – 28TH APRIL, 2021 
 
The Action Sheet arising from the special meeting of the 
Regeneration Scrutiny Committee held on 28th April, 2021 
was submitted, whereupon:- 
 
Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Performance 
Review 2020/21 Q4 
 
A Member referred to page 8 of the minutes of the previous 
meeting when a Member asked who would be responsible 
for any shortfall in funding should passenger numbers not 
meet the loan repayments.  He said as the Officer was 
unable to respond at that time it was requested that it be 
noted as an action point. 
 
Locations for electric vehicle charging points 
 
A Member pointed out that there were currently no locations 
identified for Tredegar. 
 
In response the Team Manager Regeneration Opportunities 
explained that these were the original sites identified as the 
most affordable under the funding for the scheme.  

 

Page 12



However, work was currently ongoing with City Deal for 
additional charging points, to include Tredegar, and also the 
provision of charging points at taxi ranks throughout the 
Borough. 
 
The Officer said she did not know the exact number of 
additional charging points at this time, but she reported 
there were companies willing to install them free of charge 
for a commercial return, and this option was also being 
explored.  However, it was likely there would be a minimum 
of 2 charging points per taxi rank. 
 
A Member asked whether members of the public would be 
able to use the charging points at taxi ranks, and the Officer 
said this was unlikely due to safety reasons with the 
movement of taxis etc, and the requirements of the traffic 
regulation orders that would be required.  The Officer also 
pointed out that signage was part of the programme and 
these would be erected prior to the charging points going 
live. 
 
The Corporate Director Regeneration & Community 
Services said a briefing note on electric vehicle charging 
points would be beneficial for Members. 
 
A Member asked that Ward Members be consulted on the 
proposed locations for charging points moving forward, and 
the Team Leader Regeneration Opportunities confirmed 
that consultation would take place with Members in advance 
of any areas being identified. 
 
In relation to the Members Briefing Session, the Corporate 
Director reported that TFW had yet to confirm a date. 
 
The Committee AGREED, subject to the foregoing, that the 
Action Sheet be noted. 
 

No. 6 PROPOSED SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FORWARD WORK 
PROGRAMME 2021-22 
 
Consideration was given to the proposed Scrutiny 
Committee Forward Work Programme for 2021-22. 
 

 

Page 13



A Member suggested that the Aneurin Bevan Report be put 
back to coincide with submission of the Tredegar Town 
Centre Report/THI Report.  He also suggested that a visit to 
10 The Circle be arranged when the Covid restrictions are 
lifted. 
 
Another Member said a report on the Borough’s commercial 
units should be brought forward, in light of recent issues 
regarding the new lease arrangements. 
 
A brief discussion ensued when the Corporate Director 
pointed out that details of arrangements between the 
Council and individual companies would not be included in 
the Annual Industrial Property Performance report.  The 
report provided an overall position in terms of reviewing 
leases and the number of people who had converted to the 
new lease arrangements as part of the Bridging the Gap 
programme agreed by Council.  However, a specific report 
on lease arrangements and what had been agreed by 
Council could be drafted. 
 
A Member referred to the recent presentation to Members 
on the Community Renewal Fund and Shared Prosperity 
Fund, and requested that bids for Levelling Up Funding be 
reported to Scrutiny prior to submission to Central 
Government. 
 
The Corporate Director reported that a decision on the bids 
submitted for Community Renewal Funding would hopefully 
be received later in July, and a report on the approved bids 
would be submitted to the September meeting of the 
Committee. 
 
In relation to bids for Levelling Up Funding, these would be 
subject to separate reports to Scrutiny seeking agreement 
on the type of projects to be submitted. 
 
In response to a further question, the Corporate Director 
explained that the deadline for submission of bids for 
Community Renewal Funding was the end of July, but he 
could not provide a specific date.   
 
In relation to Levelling Up Funding he could not provide a 
deadline for the next round of bids, however, the end date 

Page 14



for the Fund was 2023/24.  He also stressed the importance 
of only submitting bids that were ready to go as it was a 
very competitive process. 
 
The Corporate Director said he was unable to provide any 
details of the Shared Prosperity Fund, but the Community 
Renewal Fund was a potential precursor to that Fund.  
However, a successful bid for CRF did not mean automatic 
access to Shared Prosperity Funding.  He assured that 
Members would be informed when further information on 
the Shared Prosperity Funding was received. 
 
A Member requested a report on the number of jobs that 
had been created/lost and the impact of the Covid pandemic 
on unemployment levels in Blaenau Gwent. 
 
In response the Service Manager Business & Regeneration 
said this information linked with the Covid 19 Recovery 
report further on the agenda in terms of building 
mechanisms to monitor how the work of the Council was 
supporting the community in job creation and safeguarding 
of jobs. 
 
The Member said an annual report on job figures would be 
helpful, and the Officer said this information could be 
highlighted within the regular performance reporting 
mechanism. 
 
Another Member referred to the date for submission of the 
Blaenau Gwent Replacement LDP report, and asked 
whether this was feasible given to the delay in the process. 
 
The Corporate Director said this was the timeline currently 
being worked to, however, due to current pressures within 
the Planning Service this may change.  The Council had a 
delivery agreement with Welsh Government and Officers 
were working hard to meet that deadline.  
 
In relation to previous comments around employment 
figures, he said the Performance Report could be used to 
draw out specific information, and the Covid 19 Recovery 
report on the agenda would be lifting some key headline 
data around unemployment rates and benefit claimant rates 
which could be used to analyse our recovery. 

Page 15



 
The Committee AGREED, subject to the foregoing, that the 
report be accepted and the Forward Work Programme for 
2021-22 be approved (Option 2). 
 

No. 7 COMMUNITY MUNICIPAL INVESTMENT 
 
Consideration was given to report of the Team Manager 
Regeneration Opportunities. 
 
The Team Manager Regeneration Opportunities presented 
the report which sought approval to progress Community 
Energy Investment as a financial instrument to fund low 
carbon energy generation infrastructure and technology to 
provide energy and heat to Blaenau Gwent residents and 
businesses. 
 
The Officer went through the report and highlighted points 
contained therein. 
 
A Member asked whether the Council would still be able to 
access EU funding, and what return people could expect on 
their investment. 
 
In response the Officer said a Member Briefing Session on 
European Funding would be beneficial.  In terms of this 
funding, it was originally through Horizon 2020, and while 
the UK has left Europe there was agreement that the UK 
could continue to participate in this funding arrangement.  
This was also the case with Horizon European, its 
successor in the programme. 
 
In terms of the rate of return that could be expected, this 
was for the Council to determine.  It was aimed to be below 
the Public Works Loan Board rate which tended to be 
between 2-4%.  The Council would agree a rate slightly 
below that rate, and that would be the return given to 
residents. 
 
A Member referred to section 2.4 of the report and asked 
whether the bond fund could be used to provide loans. 
 
The Officer said the bond fund was a benefit for the Council 
to utilise rather than going to a bank or prudential borrowing.   

 

Page 16



 
The Member then referred to section 2.5 and asked who 
would be responsible for approving projects. 
 
The Officer said some Authorities had taken the approach of 
stating a specific project, or the Council may want to take a 
more generic approach, and state that money would go 
towards a number of projects included within our Energy 
Prospectus, with the assurance of a business case.  
However, the risk would be with the Council to undertake 
those projects and have the money to repay the borrowing, 
so it was important not to access any money until projects 
were ready to proceed.  The Council’s normal structures 
could be used to govern that process.  
 
A Member referred to the potential impact on projects 
should an investor decide to pull their money. 
 
In response the Officer said bonds would normally be 
invested for a set period of time, generally 5 years.  
However, should an investor want to withdraw their money it 
would go back to the platform through Abundance and the 
bond would be re-advertised. 
 
A brief discussion ensued when the Officer clarified points 
raised by Members. 
 
A Member expressed concerns regarding the financial 
impact on the Authority in the event of the company failing, 
and asked whether the funding would be underwritten. 
 
In response the Officer explained that the company was a 
platform to facilitate the investment, and the money was for 
the Council to invest.  The Council’s failure to deliver the 
project was the biggest risk to investors, however, this 
would be made clear as part of due diligence processes and 
discussions with our Legal Section. 
 
The Committee AGREED to recommend that the report be 
accepted and the Scrutiny Committee: 
 

 Endorse Option One as the preferred way to proceed; 

Page 17



 Due diligence be commenced alongside the Head of 
Legal and Corporate Compliance together with the 
Chief Officer Resources; 

 Endorse the launch of Community Municipal Bonds 
subject to due diligence and final sign off of the 
necessary agreements delegated to the Head of Legal 
and Corporate Compliance in consultation with the 
Chief Officer Resources; and 

 That the Chief Officer for Resources be delegated to 
determine the date of the formal launch of the bond, 
bond length period and bond issue rate so long as it is 
below the PWLB rate. 
 

No. 8 DEVELOPMENT OF BUSINESS ENERGY MODEL TO 
ENABLE BUSINESS PARKS TO ACHIEVE NET ZERO 
OUTCOMES 
 
Consideration was given to report of the Team Manager 
Regeneration Opportunities. 
 
The Team Manager Regeneration Opportunities presented 
the report which provided details of the background to the 
project, and progress made as a demonstrator of the Welsh 
Government Smart Living Programme.  The report also 
provided an overview of the newly established Whole 
System Business Research Innovation for Decarbonisation 
(WBRID) Project, and an overview of the Blaenau Gwent 
WBRID Competition. 
 
Members welcomed the report. 
 
The Committee AGREED to recommend that the report be 
accepted and the information contained therein be noted. 
 

 

No. 9 COVID-19 RECOVERY – ECONOMY 
 
Consideration was given to report of the Service Manager 
Business & Regeneration. 
 
The Service Manager Business & Regeneration presented 
the report which provided Members with a summary of work 
undertaken and proposals to support economic ‘recovery’ 
within Blaenau Gwent. 
 

 

Page 18



The Officer went through the report and highlighted points 
contained therein. 
 
A Member said he would have liked to have seen a link into 
current employability programmes in Blaenau Gwent, that 
could provide training opportunities to help businesses 
identify any skills gaps moving forward. 
 
In response the Service Manager Business & Regeneration 
said the Council had very good relationships with a number 
of partners in this area, and existing networks would 
continue to play a key part in this work. 
 
The Chair referred to previous comments and said it would 
be interesting to know how many businesses were in 
operation prior to the Covid pandemic and how many were 
still in operation. 
 
The Officer confirmed that analysis of this data was a key 
part of the work currently being undertaken in terms of 
identifying the impact of Covid on local businesses. 
 
The Committee AGREED to recommend that the report be 
accepted and the information contained therein be 
endorsed. 
 

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 

Action Sheet - Regeneration Scrutiny Committee – 30th June 2021 

 

Item Action to be Taken By Whom Action Taken 

5 Action Sheet – 28th April 2021 
 
Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Performance 
Review 2020/21 Q4 - A Member referred to page 8 of 
the minutes of the previous meeting when a Member 
asked who would be responsible for any shortfall in 
funding should passenger numbers not meet the loan 
repayments, and asked that this be included as an 
action point. 
 
 
 
 
Electric Vehicle Charging Points – A briefing note to 
be provided, to include, number of additional electric 
vehicle charging points, access to taxi ranks, signage, 
etc. 
 

 
 
 
Ellie Fry 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Amy Taylor 

This point was covered in the July report on the WG funding for 
the Ebbw Vale Railway Dualling Report – Part 2 
 
“The document (Quadripartite Agreement) clearly sets out that 
WG are responsible for the provision of the loan and the 
financial liability for programme including overspend risks 
beyond the loan amount. In addition to the revenue funding to 
be paid to TfW that will flow through to the Council to allow the 
loan repayment, to enable the delivery of enhanced services 
when the project becomes operational.”  
 
This work is not part of the CCR Metro funding. 
 
The attached briefing note has been prepared and circulated to 
all Elected Members for information and feedback. 
 

6 Proposed Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 2021-
22 
 
In relation to the Place Making Plans – when COVID 
regulations allow, Member visits to be arranged to 10 
The Circle and the Medical Aid Society building. 
 

 
 
 
Amy Taylor / 
Democratic 
Team 

 
 
 
Agreed.  Visit to be arranged when it is safe to do so. 

7 Community Municipal Investment 
 
The transaction fee amount paid to the company to be 
provided. 

 
 
Amy Taylor 

The transaction fee paid to the company will depend upon the 
amount the Council seeks to raise.  However, they have 
indicated that for £1million there would be arrangement and 
administration fees totalling around 0.25% = £2,500. 

 

 

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Members briefing Note – Electric Vehicle Chargepoints 

Over the last year the Council has been working with Silverstone Green Energy to 

provide Electric Vehicle chargepoints for public use. This has included:  

 eight dual chargepoints funded through UK Government’s Office for Low 

Emission Vehicles on street residential grant scheme which went live the end 

of November 

 replacement of damaged chargepoints at the Multi Storey Car Park, Lime 

Avenue, Ebbw Vale 

 installation of two wall mounted chargepoints at the Council’s Depot to allow 

charging to the four new electric vans being purchased for the Council fleet. 

Please see below usage data from November 2020 to July 2021 for these 

chargepoints: 

 

There are also plans in place to install chargepoints at the new hybrid units and 

Boxworks on The Works site, Lime Avenue, Ebbw Vale within the next few months. 

The Council has entered into a Concession Agreement with Silverstone Green 

Energy to operate and maintain the chargepoints for the next 4 years with the option 

to extend this by 3 years in exchange for a profit share arrangement. We have 

agreed with Silverstone that we can add the new sites into the Concession 

Agreement. 

Cardiff Capital Region City Deal  

Following on from this work Cardiff Capital Region City Deal (CCRCD) has secured 

funding from Welsh Government to install rapid chargepoints for taxi ranks, purchase 

electric taxis to be offered under a 30-day free trial for taxi drivers and install 

chargepoints for general public use. CCRCD went out to procurement for a supplier 

for the installation of rapid chargepoints for taxis earlier this year and appointed 

Swarco. As part of this contract they are installing 50kW rapid chargepoints at the 

following taxi ranks in Blaenau Gwent: 

1. Carmel Street car park Abertillery. This location was chosen over the taxi rank 

itself due to the small size of the taxi rank, location of street furniture and 

pavement width. 

2. Brynmawr taxi rank, Station Road Brynmawr. The charge point will be located 

at the rear of the taxi rank. 

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

4.00

4.50

5.00

Colliers Row Car
Park

Abertillery
leisure centre

Worcester St Car
Park

High Street Car
Park, Blaina

The Works
Multistorey

Ground Floor

Charge time (hrs)

Page 23



3. Ebbw Vale taxi rank. The charge point will be located at the rear of the taxi 

rank. 

4. Tredegar taxi rank in Gwent Shopping Centre. The charge point will be 

located in the row behind the taxi rank. 

CCRCD has purchased 50 electric taxis that will be available for trial across the 

region and are currently out for procurement for a management company to oversee 

this. Blaenau Gwent has taken delivery of two electric taxis which are parked at the 

rear of the Energy Centre.   

 

As part of determining the sites to be included for general use by the public the 

Council has put forward 11 sites based on previous work undertaken and demand. 

These sites are:             

 

1. Two car parks at the General Offices, Steelworks Road, Ebbw Vale 

       

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



2. Council owned land opposite Rassau Industrial Estate, Ebbw Vale 

                                  

 

 

3. Armoury Terrace car park, Ebbw Vale 

          

4. Car Park opposite Blaentillery Club, Tillery Road, Cwmtillery               

 

       Page 25



 

5. Llanhilleth Railway Station Car Park 

 
 

6. Worcester Street / Somerset Street / Davies Street Car Park, Brynmawr 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



7. Ebbw Vale Parkway 

 

 

 

8. Gwent Shopping Centre Car Park 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



9. ViTTC, Tredegar Business Park, Tredegar 

 

 

 

10. Bryn Bach Park 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 28



11. Market Square Car park Brynmawr  

 

 

 

We would appreciate your feedback on our site selection and any suggestions you 

have for new sites going forward. 

Page 29



Welsh Local Government Association – EV Infrastructure Grant 

Within Prosperity for All: A Low Carbon Wales, the Welsh Government (WG) has set 

ambitious targets for the decarbonisation of the public sector fleet. From this, the key 

target and ambition of current relevance requires that all new cars and light goods 

vehicles in the Public Sector fleet are ultra-low emission by 2025 and where 

practicably possible, all heavy goods vehicles are ultra-low emission by 2030. 

Welsh Government has been able to award a £300,000 EV charging infrastructure 

grant to each Local Authority. This scheme is being administered by the Welsh Local 

Government Association (WLGA) and a condition of the WG grant is that each Local 

Authority must produce a ULEV Transition Plan and submit it to WLGA by 22nd 

October 2021.   

Officers are currently looking into site selection on a wider basis that just the Council 

Depot due to the decision to relocate. We are considering the option of installing 

chargepoints at schools within the borough and working on a site appraisal to score 

based on set criteria in collaboration with colleagues in Education.  

Page 30



COUNTY BOROUGH OF BLAENAU GWENT 
 

REPORT TO: THE CHAIR AND MEMBERS OF THE 
REGENERATION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

  
SUBJECT: SPECIAL REGENERATION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

– 15TH JULY, 2021 
  
REPORT OF: DEMOCRATIC & COMMITTEE SUPPORT OFFICER 

 

 
PRESENT:  COUNCILLOR J. HILL (CHAIR) 
 

Councillors G.A. Davies 
M. Cross 
G.L. Davies 
P. Edwards 
K. Hayden 
S. Healy 
W. Hodgins 
J.C. Morgan 

    L. Parsons   
    G. Paulsen 
    K. Rowson 

T. Smith (sub for B. Willis) 
S. Thomas (sub for H. McCarthy) 

       
AND:   Corporate Director Regeneration & Community Services 

Head of Regeneration 
Owen Ashton 
Press and Communications Officer  

   Scrutiny & Democratic Officer/Advisor 
    

 
ITEM 

 
SUBJECT 
 

 
ACTION 

No. 1 SIMULTANEOUS TRANSLATION 
 
It was noted that no requests had been received for the 
simultaneous translation service. 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



No. 2 APOLOGIES 
 
The following apologies for absence were received:- 
 
Councillor H. McCarthy 
Councillor B. Willis 
 

 

No. 3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND DISPENSATIONS 
 
No declarations of interest or dispensations were reported. 
 

 

 EBBW VALLEY RAILWAY 
 
Having regard to the views expressed by the Proper Officer 
regarding the public interest test, that on balance the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the public 
interest in disclosing the information and that the report 
should be exempt.  
 
RESOLVED that the public be excluded whilst this item of 
business is transacted as it is likely there would be a 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 14 
of Part 1, Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act, 1972 
(as amended).  
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Corporate 
Director Regeneration and Community Services. 
 
A Member noted that although the report had been deemed 
exempt some information was already in the press. The 
Member acknowledged the reason for the exemption, 
however he felt that due to the matters being considered and 
in the interest of the public the information should not be of 
an exempt nature. It was important that the Council was open 
and transparent with such transactions and the Member 
disagreed with the report being exempt. 
 
The Corporate Director Regeneration and Community 
Services advised that the original report presented to Council 
was exempt and could not comment on how the information 
was in the public domain. The report considered a 
commercial arrangement and contractual details held 
between individual parties which were confidential. 
 

 

Page 32



A further concern was raised that there was no legal 
representative at the meeting and it was paramount when 
considering such matters that a legal officer be in attendance. 
 
The Corporate Director Regeneration and Community 
Services spoke to the report which gave details of the loan 
agreement, risks identified and the contracting arrangements 
and the agreement of responsibilities between Welsh 
Government, Transport for Wales (Rail), Transport for Wales 
and the Council.  
 
At this juncture the Chair invited questions from the Scrutiny 
Members. 
 
A Member referred to the costings detailed in the report and 
the Corporate Director confirmed that any monies required to 
support alternative funding would be provided by Welsh 
Government. 
 
The Member referred to the initial report presented to Council 
in March 2021 and advised that concerns had been raised in 
relation to the alternative funding which could fall back on 
Blaenau Gwent tax payers and noted that this had now been 
addressed. The Corporate Director advised that any 
alternative monies would now be met by Welsh Government. 
 
Concerns were raised as Members had not been presented 
with the full analysis of passenger usage and if the revenue 
made from the additional trains would be sufficient to warrant 
the scheme. It was felt that if this scheme failed it would be a 
reputational risk to the Council and a Member proposed that 
the full analysis be presented to Members. 
 
The Corporate Director Regeneration and Community 
Services advised that there would be no risk to the Council 
as the scheme was being funded by Welsh Government and 
Transport for Wales. The Corporate Director noted that there 
was a national risk following COVID-19 around the resilience 
of public transport. The agile working arrangements taken 
forward by many organisations would see passengers 
accessing travel at different times.  
 
 

Page 33



The Corporate Director advised that going forward both 
Welsh Government and Transport for Wales were 
comfortable with the scheme and any risks had been taken 
away from the Local Authority. The Welsh Government was 
aware that the Ebbw Valley Rail Line had less frequency than 
other lines and investment was needed to bring this up to the 
standard of other valleys. 
 
In response to concern raised in relation to the lack of 
information presented, the Corporate Director Regeneration 
and Community Services advised that all the necessary 
information, to make a decision was contained in the report. 
In terms of passenger numbers, this data would not make a 
difference to the Authority as Welsh Government were 
content with the data and it was Welsh Government’s 
intention to invest in public transport and address carbon 
footprint, therefore from an officer perspective, the Corporate 
Director confirmed there was no issues. 
 
Further concerns were raised in the differing information 
presented from March and the lack of monies now reported 
for the Abertillery spur. It was felt that due to this significant 
change it was important that all documentation be presented 
to ascertain how these decisions were reached.  
 
Another Member felt that all the relevant safeguards had 
been taken forward by the Authority and welcomed the 
improved rail service and connectivity to Newport. The 
Member appreciated concerns raised in relation to monies to 
be used for the scheme, however he was confident that no 
burden would be placed on Blaenau Gwent. 
 
In relation to the Abertillery spur, the Corporate Director 
Regeneration and Community Services stated that there had 
been no change in the intention for Abertillery. It was hoped, 
as detailed in the March report that this would be delivered if 
the monies were available. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



Members reiterated concerns that it was important for the full 
document be presented as issues had been raised with 
previous projects where not all the information had been 
presented to Members. A Member noted the lack of 
passengers on trains and felt that it would be a struggle to fill 
a further 4 trains and therefore the data should be presented 
to provide Member with these assurances.  
 
Another Member welcomed the opportunity to improve public 
transport which would enhance the communities of Blaenau 
Gwent. The Member reiterated the officer’s comments and 
stated that there was no risk to the Blaenau Gwent tax 
payers. Another Member concurred with the comments 
raised and noted that the monies had been guaranteed in 
writing by Welsh Government. 
 
A further Member felt that this opportunity should be 
welcomed as it would improve public transport in and out of 
the Borough.  
 
The Member agreed that the scheme improved public 
transport for the communities of Blaenau Gwent, however, 
the Member felt it was important that the evidence on how 
the decision was reached be available for scrutiny by 
Members. 
 
Another Member noted that the scheme was welcomed by all 
Members and therefore there should be no issue if all 
documentation was presented. 
 
The Chair referred to the options for consideration and an 
amendment to the options was proposed 
 
At this juncture, Option 3 was proposed:-  
 
The report be deferred in such a time that the full 
documentation could be presented to Members in order to 
fully scrutinise. 
 
This alternative proposal was seconded. 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



A recorded vote was, therefore, requested. 
 
In Favour of the proposed Option 3 – Councillors P. Edwards, 
M. Cross, K. Hayden, S. Thomas, J.C. Morgan, T. Smith 
 
Against the proposed Option 3 – Councillors J. Hill,  
G.A. Davies, G.L. Davies, S. Healy, W. Hodgins, G. Paulsen, 
L. Parsons, K. Rowson  
 
The vote on the proposal was not carried. 
 
The Chair thereupon proposed Option 1 (preferred option). 
 
This proposal was seconded.   
 
A recorded vote was, therefore, requested. 
 
Against Option 1 (preferred option) – Councillors P. Edwards, 
M. Cross, K. Hayden, S. Thomas, J.C. Morgan, T. Smith 
  
In favour Option 1 (preferred option) – Councillors J. Hill,  
G.A. Davies, G.L. Davies, S. Healy, W. Hodgins, G. Paulsen, 
L. Parsons, K. Rowson  
  
The vote on Option 1 (preferred option) was carried.  
 
Councillor M. Cook was not permitted to take part in the vote 
as he had left the meeting prior to Option 3 being proposed. 
 
The Committee AGREED to recommend, subject to the 
foregoing, that the report which contained information 
relating to the financial/business affairs of persons other than 
the Authority be accepted and Option 1 as detailed in the 
report be approved. 
 

 

Page 36



Executive Committee and Council only 
Date signed off by the Monitoring Officer: 
Date signed off by the Section 151 Officer:  

 

Committee:  
 

Regeneration Scrutiny Committee 

Date of meeting:  
 

15 September 2021 
 

Report Subject:  
 

Progress update on Decarbonisation Plan 

Portfolio Holder: 
 

Councillor David Davies, Deputy Leader / 
Executive Member Regeneration and Economic 
Development 

Report Submitted by: Michelle Morris, Managing Director 
 

Reporting Pathway 
Directorate 

Management 
Team 

Corporate 
Leadership 

Team 

Portfolio 
Holder / 

Chair 

Audit 
Committee 

Democratic 
Services 

Committee 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

Executive 
Committee 

Council Other 
(please 
state) 

26.08.21 26.08.21 05.09.21   15.09.21 22.09.21  Decarb 
Programme 
Board 
8 Sept 

 

1. Purpose of the Report 
 
1.1 

 
To outline progress made since the adoption of the Council’s Decarbonisation 
Plan and the declaration of a Climate Emergency on 24 September 2020. 
 

2. Scope and Background 
 
2.1 
 
 
 
 
2.2 
 
 
 
 
2.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The Decarbonisation Plan set out how we would deliver our commitment to the 
ambition of the Welsh Public Sector to achieve net Zero by 2030. It outlined 
how we could reduce our organisational emissions across nine transitions, see 
Appendices A and B. 
 
Since the plan was adopted a Decarbonisation Board (the Board hereafter) 
has been established chaired by the Managing Director consisting of a range 
of experienced officers from across the Council, for Terms of Reference, see 
Appendix C. 
 
The Board agreed to carry out readiness assessments for each of the nine 
transitions to understand what was already being done, and to identify the key 
actions we need to take to progress. This process is being based on good 
practice from the Place-based Climate Action Network (PCAN) at Leeds 
University.  The transition areas are: 

 Transport Direct 

 Transport Commissioned 

 Sequestration 

 Procurement Goods 

 Procurement Services  

 Procurement Works  

 Electricity  

 Heat 

 Waste 
 
 

Page 37

Agenda Item 8

https://www.blaenau-gwent.gov.uk/fileadmin/documents/Council/Policies_Strategies_Plans/BGCBC_Decarbonisation_Plan_2030__Council_Version_.pdf


 

  

 
2.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.5 
 
 
 
2.5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
2.5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2.6 

 

 

 

 
Making Good Progress  
The Board agreed that the first readiness assessment to be examined would 
be ‘Transport Direct’ making up 8% of our gross carbon emissions. Key 
stakeholders from a range of service areas were involved in the process held 
in May and June 2021 via online workshops, bringing valuable knowledge on 
progress and insight on how challenges can be overcome. It is of note that 
staff energy and engagement in giving time to the readiness assessment was 
high. The initial approach has provided a very good start and something that 
can be used to build on developing and shaping the process using feedback 
and learning as we move forward. 
 
The products from these workshops have been carefully considered by the 
Board and CLT in July 2021 with a number of high level actions agreed. These 
are outlined below with organisational leads identified: 
 
Fleet  

 Develop a fleet plan and resource its implementation by building costs 
into Corporate Medium Term Financial Plan. (Lead: Community 
Services) 

 Develop and resource a low carbon depot. (Lead: Community 
Services) 

 Ensure procurement arrangements are in place to support the plan. 
This needs to recognise the inter-dependant work on the new depot and 
collaborative opportunities at a regional and national level. (Lead: 
Commercial Services) 

 Replace small fleet ULEV in phased way in line with available space, 
grid capacity and infrastructure. (Lead: Community Services) 
 

 

Travel 

 Embed the new operating model and assess its impact in terms of 
decarbonisation. (Lead: Commercial Services) 

 Consider how to further reduce commute / travel impact in wider areas 
of the business e.g. Schools and Social Services.  (Lead: Commercial 
Services) 

 Investigate and identify staff demand to travel more actively and 
consider business case to meet this demand e.g. showers at main sites, 
secure shower facilities, safe storage and e-charging for cycles.  (Lead: 
Community Services – Active Travel)   

 Develop a plan for non-depot charging infrastructure for fleet and 
personal ULEV vehicles at key staff sites in the new operating model.  
(Lead: Regeneration and Development) 

 Explore how staff can be encouraged to switch to ULEV. (Lead: 
Commercial Services) 
 

The paper informing CLT decision making is attached at Appendix D. 
 
In terms of next steps, further readiness assessments on the remaining 
transitions will follow. Work is already underway during August 2021 in 
undertaking assessments on transitions related to buildings: Electricity, 
Heating and Procurement (Works). These collectively make up 22% of our 
gross carbon emissions. Once again engagement and energy levels from the 
staff involved has been high with a real commitment to share their knowledge 

Page 38



 

  

 

 

 

2.7 
 
 
 
 
 

2.8 
 
 
 
 
2.9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.11 
 
 
 
 
2.12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

and insight in informing corporate decision making. It is equally important to 
note however, that challenges are being identified and in terms of expectations 
the staff involved in identifying these rightly expect their observations to be 
given carefully consideration. 
 
It is anticipated that all of the transitions will have been subject to a readiness 
assessment with high level actions identified for each during this financial year 
21/22. Progress on agreed actions will be monitored via the Council’s existing 
business planning process on an ongoing basis with updates provided by the 
identified leads on a quarterly basis. 
 
Welsh Government Net Zero Reporting Guidance 
In May 2021 the Welsh Government produced its guidance on its expectation 
in terms of content and reporting requirements for Net Zero Reporting for Local 
Authorities in Wales.   
 
The Council is well placed to respond to this requirement and has been  
proactive in using the best advice and guidance available to develop accurate 
calculations of its carbon footprints for 2018/19 and 2019/20 which were 
instrumental in shaping an evidence based approach to our Decarbonisation 
Plan.  Furthermore, Officers representing the Council have provided insight 
into the calculations at a number of regional events during 2019 and 2020 
having been identified as good practice by peer organisations such as Natural 
Resources Wales. 
 
As a consequence of this, the Council is in a strong position to be able to 
respond to the Welsh Government reporting expectation. The Board in the July 
meeting agreed to set up a sub group of relevant officers to ensure work is 
undertaken to consider the minor recalculations required for our 2019/20 
carbon footprint in-line with the guidance (now confirmed as the “base line” 
year), and to make arrangements for calculation for our 20/21 carbon footprint 
(and subsequent years which will follow).  
 
The deadline set for this work (19/20 and 20/21) is 31 October 2021. On 
completion we will then need to calculate our 21/22 footprint by the end of 
June 2022 (and for every subsequent year).  This updated position will be 
reported to Scrutiny Committee. 
 
National Policy Context 
The Council through its representation on the WLGA Decarbonisation Strategy 
Panel is kept up to date on emerging policy frameworks from Welsh 
Government. These include a number of proposed Local Government 
decarbonisation commitments which will form the Local Government 
contribution to the Public Sector Chapter of the Welsh Governments second 
delivery plan Net Zero Wales (NZW) 2021-2025 which is due to be published 
in October 2021. It is of note the proposed actions are being developed from 
the Decarbonisation Strategy Panel deep dives. It is worthy to note that insight 
gleaned from these deep dives has also being built into the readiness 
assessments being considered by the Board and CLT, which should place us 
in a stronger position by ensuring we are focussing our efforts on those things 
that will accelerate decarbonisation.  
 

Page 39

https://www.blaenau-gwent.gov.uk/fileadmin/documents/Council/Policies_Strategies_Plans/BGCBC_Decarbonisation_Plan_2030__Council_Version_.pdf
https://www.blaenau-gwent.gov.uk/fileadmin/documents/Council/Policies_Strategies_Plans/BGCBC_Decarbonisation_Plan_2030__Council_Version_.pdf


 

  

2.13 
 
 
 
 
 
2.14 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.15 
 
 
 
 
 
2.17 
 
 
2.18 
 
 
 
 
2.19 
 
 
 

Members will be aware that the UK is hosting the 26th Climate Change 
Conference in Glasgow from 31 October 2021. COP 26, short for Conference 
of Parties, has published a number of goals for this summit and these and 
other information on what is planned can be found on its website: 
www.ukcop26.org  
 
Blaenau Gwent Climate Assembly  
The Blaenau Gwent Climate Change Citizens Assembly was the very first of its 
kind in Wales. In March 2021, it brought together residents from the Blaenau 
Gwent area to consider the question: ‘What should we do in Blaenau Gwent to 
tackle the climate crisis in a way that is fair and improves living standards for 
everyone?’. 
 
44 participants from the area attended the Assembly meeting for a total of 23 
hours to hear evidence from over 20 different experts, discuss the issues, and 
produce recommendations for what local public service organisations, 
communities and individuals could do to address the climate crisis and 
improve lives for people in Blaenau Gwent.  
 
Following deliberation, the assembly members made a number of 
recommendations which are provided at Appendix E 
 

An “all members” briefing session on the Climate Assembly was held earlier 
this year and a commitment was given to publish a Council Response to the 
findings and this work is underway and will be reported to Scrutiny Committee 
in due course.  
 
The Council is also taking a lead role in developing the response provided to 
the Climate Assembly on behalf of the Blaenau Gwent Public Services Board 
and this work is also underway and will be completed this Autumn. 
 

3. Options for Recommendation  
3.1 Option One 

That the Committee considers and scrutinises the progress made and 
supports the report to be presented to Executive Committee. 
 
Option Two 
That the Committee considers the progress made and provides specific 
comments to be presented to Executive Committee. 
 

4. 
 
 
 
4.1 
 
 
 
 
4.2 

Evidence of how does this topic supports the achievement of the 
Corporate Plan / Statutory Responsibilities / Blaenau Gwent Well-being 
Plan 
 
Welsh Government published a delivery plan ‘Prosperity for All: A Low Carbon 
Wales’ that calls for public sector leadership, including the ambition for the 
Welsh public sector to be carbon neutral by 2030. In September 2020, Council 
has approved an evidence based Decarbonisation Plan for the organisation.  

The Decarbonisation Plan is an important element of the Council providing 
public leadership on climate change. The long-term implications of climate 
change mean that is also central to the PSB’s responsibilities under the Well-
being of Future Generations Act.  In particular, that in accordance with the 
Sustainable Development Principle. 

Page 40

http://www.ukcop26.org/


 

  

5. Implications Against Each Option  
5.1 Impact on Budget (short and long term impact) 

At this moment in time the Council has taken a business as usual approach to 
resourcing the Decarbonisation Plan. That said, as each transition is 
progressed and high level action agreed, costs will be identified to make this 
work happen and will, moving forward, form separate reports from business 
leads for consideration of any investment required. It is anticipated that 
investment decisions will need to be taken by the Council, Welsh Government 
and wider partners to enable local action.  
 

5.2 Risk including Mitigating Actions 
Having declared a climate emergency, reputational damage is a risk if we do 
not respond to the challenges facing us as we implement our agreed 
Decarbonisation Plan. The systematic way in which we are approaching the 
transition work should enable us to arrive at well informed proposals on the 
actions we need to take to move towards Net Zero. These actions will though 
need to be fully integrated into our business planning processes and closely 
monitored to ensure progress is maintained.  
  

5.3 Legal 
The legislative context around climate change is evolving with both UK and 
Welsh Government announcing new, more ambitious emissions reductions 
targets. 
 

5.4 Human Resources  
The full human resources implications in implementing the plan are not yet fully 
known. These will become clearer as leads take forward actions that emerge 
from the readiness assessments. These might include the need for officers 
with specialist skills and knowledge to deliver key elements. It is also highly 
likely that staff engagement will be a key enabler in what is really a programme 
of transformational change.   

6. Supporting Evidence  
6.1 Performance Information and Data  

 
See supporting appendices: 
 
Appendix A: All Transitions Infographic from Decarbonisation Plan 
Appendix B: BGCBC Carbon Footprint by Transition Breakdown 
Appendix C Decarbonisation Board Terms of Reference 
Appendix D: Transport Direct Summary Paper and Data Appendices 
Appendix E: Climate Assembly Report 
https://cynnalcymru.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Blaenau-Gwent-Climate-
Assembly-Report-ENG.pdf 
 

6.2 Expected outcome for the public 
The Decarbonisation Plan helps to reduce the risks from climate change to 
service delivery, as well as identifying opportunities to develop a more resilient 
council for the public. 

6.3 Involvement (consultation, engagement, participation) 
The development of the readiness assessments has at its core the involvement 
of key stakeholders from the relevant service areas. The Blaenau Gwent 
Climate Assembly built on our existing public engagement with environmental 
issues, including recycling, nature areas and eco councils in schools.   

Page 41

https://cynnalcymru.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Blaenau-Gwent-Climate-Assembly-Report-ENG.pdf
https://cynnalcymru.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Blaenau-Gwent-Climate-Assembly-Report-ENG.pdf


 

  

 
6.4 Thinking for the Long term (forward planning)  

The Decarbonisation Plan and the readiness assessment approach fully 
recognises the long term nature of some of the high level actions that will 
emerge from this process.  
 

6.5 Preventative focus  
Addressing increasing revenue costs from rising energy prices and a reliance 
on fossil fuels.  It is important that decarbonisation and whole life cycle costs 
(both financial and carbon) are considered in all capital spending decisions, so 
that the Council is not locked into new carbon intensive infrastructure with high 
long-term running costs. 

6.6 Collaboration / partnership working. 
We are working with partners on climate change in Blaenau Gwent through the 
PSB Climate Mitigation Steering Group and Well-being Plan and at the regional 
level through Climate Ready Gwent.  Work on regional projects is already 
underway, where public bodies in Gwent face similar challenges and can pool 
resources, such as EV charging and Fleet Review.  Procurement is a major 
element of our carbon impact and many of our suppliers also supply other local 
public sector organisations, so collaboration will be key to engaging them with 
cutting their carbon emissions.  
 
More immediately we are currently working with Aneurin Leisure Trust to 
identify those emissions we will need to include within carbon footprint in line 
with recent Welsh Government Guidance. 
 

6.7 Integration (across service areas) 
Integration remains a key element of the Decarbonisation Plan and our plans in 
tracking agreed actions through service area business plans demonstrates this.
  

6.8 Decarbonisation and Reducing Carbon Emissions 
The Decarbonisation Plan is central to the Council’s contribution to the Welsh 
Government ambition of a carbon neutral public sector by 2030.  
 

6.9a Socio Economic Duty Impact Assessment  
Not required as this is a progress report and does not relate to strategic 
decisions. 
 

6.9b. Equality Impact Assessment  
An EQIA was carried out for the Decarbonisation Plan and separate EQIA’s will 
be carried out for major decarbonisation actions by relevant business leads as 
part of usual reporting arrangements.  
 

7. Monitoring Arrangements  
7.1 The Board will oversee progress against the transitions, and reporting 

accordingly through the Managing Director to CLT. 
 
Key actions agreed by the Board will be built into the service area business 
plans. This will ensure Decarbonisation actions are integrated into the Council 
usual performance management arrangements.  This has already been carried 
out for Transport Direct action noted above. 
 

Page 42



 

  

Furthermore, progress updates will be made through the forward work 
programmes of the Regeneration Scrutiny and Executive Committees. 
 
The Council will report appropriately to Welsh Government in-line with their Net 
Zero Reporting arrangements. 
 

 Background Documents / Electronic Links 
Appendix A: All Transitions Infographic from Decarbonisation Plan 
Appendix B: BGCBC Carbon Footprint by Transition Breakdown 
Appendix C Decarbonisation Board Terms of Reference 
Appendix D: Transport Direct Summary Paper and Data Appendices 
Appendix E: Climate Assembly Report 
https://cynnalcymru.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Blaenau-Gwent-Climate-
Assembly-Report-ENG.pdf 
 

 

Page 43

https://cynnalcymru.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Blaenau-Gwent-Climate-Assembly-Report-ENG.pdf
https://cynnalcymru.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Blaenau-Gwent-Climate-Assembly-Report-ENG.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A: All Transitions Infographic from Decarbonisation Plan 

 

P
age 45



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B: BGCBC Carbon Footprint by Transition Breakdown  

 

  

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C: Decarbonisation Board Terms of Reference 

 

Purpose  

To oversee the implementation of the Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Decarbonisation 

Plan. 

Responsibilities  

Responsibilities will include: 

 Coordination  

 Performance management 

 Communication 

 Delivery  

Coordination 

Board members will use their leadership positions to help direct and support their teams in the 

development of delivery projects aligned to the Decarbonisation Transition 

This will include:  

 supporting the development and completion of readiness assessments for each of the 

transitions and developing initiatives to respond to any development areas identified 

 prioritising those projects and activities that will have the greatest beneficial impact on 

decarbonisation for BGCBC 

 agreeing what existing and new initiatives that contribute to the BGCBC Decarbonisation 

Plan will monitored by the Board e.g. assessing the contribution of existing programmes 

of work to the Net Zero Target 

 ensuring complimentary programmes of work e.g. Active Travel and BGCBC work in 

supporting the Gwent Travel Charter are aligned to avoid confusion and or duplication of 

effort 

 ensuring and supporting the development of robust programme management and 

governance arrangements are in place for the implementation of the plan 

 ensuring appropriate systems are in place to achieve improvements and that staff and 

teams across the Council work effectively together   

 ensuring all policy and service reviews align to the Net Zero Ambition. This will include 

the identification of contradictions and the development of mitigation plans to align them 

at a future date 

 considering the impact of existing collaborative programmes of work and how they impact 

on / align with the Council’s Decarbonisation Plan  

 

Performance Management  

Board members will: 

 ensure transitional delivery plans are clear with measurable performance targets  

 support the development of a performance dashboard to track progress towards Net Zero 

 consider risks and barriers to progress and support cross organisational problem solving  

 support the development and consider the findings of readiness assessments for work 

plans in transitions. This might include the need for capacity building for particular 

specialist skills  

 monitor the delivery and progress of the Board’s agreed programmes of work and ensure 

the reporting of progress as required e.g. by Welsh Government 

 agree how Scrutiny is updated on progress and commit their teams to providing any 

requested reports as required by the Board in a timely fashion 

Page 49



 

Communication & Engagement  

Board members will actively contribute to the development of a communications and engagement 

plan / strategy that supports the implementation of the Decarbonisation Plan.  

 

Membership 

Membership of the Decarbonisation Programme Board will be determined by CLT. 

Meetings  

Meetings will take place in the first instance on a bi monthly basis. 

Decisions will be agreed by consensus. Where consensus cannot be reached a decision will be 

made on the basis of the views of the majority of those members. 

Support Arrangements  

Administrative support, action notes (not minutes), agendas and meeting appointments to be 

provided by Governance and Partnerships.   

Page 50



 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D: Transport Direct Summary Paper and Data Appendices 

 

From: Paul Symes, Daniel Wheelock Policy & Partnerships  

To: Corporate Leadership Team  

Date: 8 July 2021 

Subject: CLT “check and challenge” Transition 1 Transport Direct,  

BGCBC Decarbonisation Plan  

 

1.Purpose of this report 

The purpose of this report is to update CLT on the progress on the readiness 

assessment work relating to the Transport Direct transition overseen by the 

Decarbonisation Board and to provide CLT with a “check and challenge” opportunity 

on the proposed high level actions agreed by the Board at its meeting on 1 July 2021.  

2.The Assessment Process 

The readiness assessment on Transport Direct was collaboratively produced in 

accordance with a methodology agreed by the Decarbonisation Board. Its aim is to 

identify the main steps BGCBC needs to take to achieve Net Zero in this transition 

and how ready the organisation is to take these actions. Transport Direct is one of 

nine transitions identified in our Decarbonisation Plan 2020-2030 and makes up 8% 

of our gross carbon emissions. 

Transport Direct includes all emissions associated with our fleet (energy use and 

manufacture), and all energy use from other journeys undertaken by BGCBC staff in 

their own vehicles, both as part of their job role and travelling to work.  It does not 

include travel by other organisations delivering services on our behalf, travel 

associated with deliveries to or from us, or transport services we commission others 

to provide on our behalf, e.g. buses.   

The below schematic shows the relative carbon emissions produced by each 

transition (the other two transitions, Transition 3 Sequestration and Transition 9 

Waste produce negative emissions). 

Page 53



  
 

  

 

Further assessments on the remaining transitions will follow. Planning is already 

underway to undertake assessments on transitions related to buildings: Electricity, 

Heating and Procurement (Works). These collectively make up approximately 22% 

of our gross carbon emissions. Subject to availability of stakeholders, it is hoped we 

will be able to report the findings of this work in September 2021. 

3.Involvement 

Key stakeholders from a range of Directorates were requested to be involved in the 

creation of this readiness assessment though online workshops facilitated by the 

Policy and Partnership Team. Without their involvement this assessment would not 

have been possible and they have brought valuable knowledge on what is currently 

happening and planned and important insight into how certain challenges might be 

overcome.  

4. Findings  

Participants in the workshops were provided with data about the main emissions 

sources within the Transport Direct transition (See Appendix 1).  The assessment 

identified 12 key long-term transition actions that we will need to take to reach Net 

Zero.  The difficult level of each of these actions was assessed as one of the three 

following difficulty levels: 

Low Difficulty Actions that are technically feasible and could be 

undertaken using existing, or limited additional, 

resources. 

Medium Difficulty Actions that are technically feasible but will require 

significant additional resources. 

High Difficulty Actions where best alternative is not yet known and/or 

not yet technically possible. 

 

Page 54



  
 

  

These difficulty levels were based on discussions of our organisational readiness 

across five categories: (i) technical, (ii) policy, (iii) financial, (iv) workforce and (v) 

delivery readiness.  (See Appendix 2 for full details).   

The diagram below summarises the findings of the Readiness Assessment.  The 

blue boxes on the top line show the proportion of emissions that come from each of 

the four main emission sources in the transition.  For most of these emission sources 

the next line shows a secondary breakdown of where these emissions come from.  

For example, 5% of the emissions in the transition come from business travel, of 

those business travel emissions 61% come from travel by social services staff.  (The 

break down for staff commute should be available shortly) 

The 12 key transition actions that we will need to take to achieve Net Zero are in the 

pink boxes, which also include the difficulty level identified for each action.  The blue 

arrows indicate which emissions source the action addresses and the order in which 

the actions reduce these emissions.  Yellow arrows show interrelationships between 

actions.  Continuing the previous example, the first action to reduce emissions from 

business travel is grey fleet alternatives to the use of personal vehicles, where this in 

not a suitable solution, then promoting staff uptake of personal ULEV vehicles is the 

next action.  Both of these actions will also rely on charging infrastructure for small 

vehicles being provided.   

 

These actions provide a long-term view of what we need to do to reach Net Zero, the 

readiness assessment workshops also considered what actions we could take now 

to continue and accelerate this transition.  The next section details these actions.  

 

Page 55



  
 

  

 

5. Refined high level actions   

These recommended “high level actions” have been drawn from detailed work 

initiated and considered by the Board. Further more detailed information on this 

work is available from the policy and performance team and will be of value to leads 

expected to develop the detailed work plans that will sit under the below high level 

actions.  

5.1 Fleet  

 Develop a fleet plan and resource its implementation by building costs into 

Corporate Medium Term Financial Plan. (Lead: Community Services) 

 Develop and resource a low carbon depot. (Lead: Community Services) 

 Ensure procurement arrangements are in place to support the plan. This 

needs to recognise the inter-dependant work on the new depot and 

collaborative opportunities at a regional and national level. (Lead: Commercial 

Services) 

 Replace small fleet ULEV in phased way in line with available space, grid 

capacity and infrastructure. (Lead: Community Services) 

5.2 Travel  

 Embed the new operating model and assess its impact in terms of 

decarbonisation. (Lead: Commercial Services) 

 Consider how to further reduce commute / travel impact in wider areas of 

the business e.g. Schools and Social Services.  (Lead: Commercial 

Services) 

  Investigate and identify staff demand to travel more actively and consider 

business case to meet this demand e.g. showers at main sites, secure 

shower facilities, safe storage and e-charging for cycles.  (Lead: 

Community Services – Active Travel)   

  Develop a plan for non-depot charging infrastructure for fleet and personal 

ULEV vehicles at key staff sites in the new operating model.  (Lead: 

Regeneration) 

 Explore how staff can be encouraged to switch to ULEV. (Lead: 

Commercial Services) 

6. Recommendations  

1. Consider Check/Challenge the high level actions; 

2. Confirm Lead Services and ensure actions are embedded into Business Plans 

and work programmes; 

 

 

Page 56



  
 

  

Appendix 1: Transition 1 – Transport Direct Data 

There are four main sources of emissions in this transition identified in the plan:  

 
Transitions Breakdown     

 16-17 17-18 18-19 19-20 

Transition 1 - Transport Direct     

1. Fuel Use by Fleet Vehicles 1,057 1,105 1,039 987 

2. Fuel Use in Employee Commute   2,200 2,005 

3. Fuel Use in Employee Business Travel   294 279 

4. Emissions from Manufacture of Fleet 
Vehicles    2,697 2,329 

Transition 1 Total   6,230 5,600 

 

 

1. Fuel Use by Fleet Vehicles 

Refuse vehicles make up over half of fleet fuel emissions, and large fleet vehicles contribute 72% of 

these emissions. 

Page 57



  
 

  

 

 

2. Fuel Use in Employee Commute 

Nearly half of commuting mileage is associated with travel to education buildings, the potential for 

home working for education staff may well be lower. 

Work Base  (2019/20) 
 Estimate distance 
travelled per year - round 
trip to work miles 

 Yearly Carbon Footprint - 
metric tons of C02e  

Non Educational 4,631,868 1,050 

Educational 4,605,510 1,044 

 

Travel to 11 work bases accounted for 62% of all commuting miles pre-Covid.  These buildings may 

be priorities for EV and other transport infrastructure improvements.  Closing the Civic Centre will 

have a large impact on these calculations.  With this closure four of the top six commuting locations 

are secondary schools. 

Work Base  (2019/20) 
 Estimate distance 
travelled per year - 
round trip to work miles 

 Yearly Carbon Footprint 
- metric tons of C02e  

Civic Centre 1,263,564 287 

Anvil Court 1,110,802 252 

Page 58



  
 

  

Work Base  (2019/20) 
 Estimate distance 
travelled per year - 
round trip to work miles 

 Yearly Carbon Footprint 
- metric tons of C02e  

Ebbw Fawr Learning Community 665,929 151 

Brynmawr Foundation School 452,088 103 

Central Depot 435,792 99 

Tredegar Comprehensive School 348,907 79 

Abertillery Secondary Campus 328,720 75 

Pen-y-Cwm Special School 301,781 68 

Blaina ICC 299,632 68 

The River Centre 3-16 Learning 
Community 291,195 66 

Ebbw Vale Family Resource Centre 247,642 56 

 

 

3. Fuel Use in Employee Business Travel 

Page 59



  
 

  

 

The three largest work bases account for 55% of all business miles claimed.  These figures will also 

inform calculation of EV infrastructure demand.  Again the closure of the Civic Centre will have a 

significant effect. 

 

4. Emissions from Manufacture of Fleet Vehicles 

These figures are calculated on the basis of annual spend on vehicle purchase and hire.  No further 

breakdown of these figures is currently available.  In addition, information about the embodied 

emissions of specific types of vehicle is not widely available at the moment, so these figures have a 

wider margin for error than the other emissions sources.  We also have less control over these types 

of procurement emissions. 

Note on data.  The data used in this section is drawn from a number of different sources and is for 

several recent years.  For this reason, not all figures across different graphs match.  It is the best 

available data, and is sufficient for assessing the relative importance of different elements of the 

transition. 

Page 60



  
 

  

 

Appendix 2 Transition 1 – Transport Direct Readiness 

Readiness Categories 

 

Are the technologies/behaviours needed to reduce carbon 

emissions/energy use available and ready to deploy now? 

 

Are the policies/plans needed to support delivery in place now?  

Both within Blaenau Gwent Council and in the wider regional 

and national policy context? 

 

Are the funds available, are there investable options with 

business models ready to be deployed?  How do these fit with 

existing budgets and financial processes? 

 

Do we have the support and buy-in of the workforce?  Will they 

require support or skills development? 

 

Do we have the capacity, organisational structure and supply 

chains we need to deliver?  How well do we understand where 

our emissions come from and can we measure reductions?  Will 

changes be needed in how community uses our services? 

 

Assessment of 12 Key Actions  
 
1 Large Fleet Vehicles.   

Difficultly Level:  High 
  

Technical 
Readiness 

In many cases the low carbon alternatives are not available for many of the 
large vehicle types that we use to deliver services at moment.  Even when 
vehicles are on the market there are issues about practical performance 
against actual performance; particularly in relation to (i) the use of auxiliary 
equipment that draws on power such as lifting and heating and (ii) the 
topography of BG, hill starts and climbs are a major power drain.  There are 
examples of Local Authorities procuring vehicles that not been able to deliver 
service.   
Also need to consider when vehicles may become available.  Some of the 
large fleet may need to be replaced before low carbon alternatives are on the 
market, or when costs are greater than available budget.  Also rapid pace of 
change in market may mean that want to avoid being tied into purchasing 
fleet, when significantly better alternatives may be available within the 
vehicles working life time. 

Workforce 

Readiness 

 

Page 61



  
 

  

Financial 
Readiness 

Large fleet models that are available are typically at least double the upfront 
costs.  Even as ULEV prices drop, budgets will need to reflect that savings will 
come from lower running costs for fuel.  Typically we have leased vehicles but 
WG funding has required purchase, leading to further up-front costs.  Need to 
develop financial model for low carbon fleet. 

Policy Readiness Important to remember that vehicles only low carbon if power source is low 
carbon.  This requires that charging infrastructure is supplied with green 
electricity, either generated by ourselves or via procurement. 
Will need to be changes to procurement policies to reflect new 
decarbonisation requirements (see 12 Procurement Fleet) 

Delivery Readiness ULEV vehicles will still need to provide departments with best vehicles to 
deliver services. 
Supporting infrastructure needs to be in place so new vehicles can deliver 
services.  We need to learn from experience of other LAs who adopting ULEV 
large fleet.   
Need to understand vehicle charging needs and times so fleet can deliver 
services. 

Workforce 
Readiness 

Staff training required for use of alternative fuel vehicles. 

  
2 Small Vehicles.   

Difficultly Level:  Medium 

Technical 
Readiness 

Greater availability of alternatives for small ULEV.  Just begun with initial 
replacement of four small vans for highways inspections. 

Financial 
Readiness 

Welsh Government funding for initial vehicles only allow purchase which 
required departments to find additional budget.  Even if purchase not always 
required and cost differentials not as great for larger vehicles, need to ensure 
that lower running costs are reflected in how set budgets and the balance 
between capital and revenue. 

Need to consider cradle to grave costs of vehicles, particularly if will be 
purchasing more vehicles and their potential resale value. 

Policy Readiness Decarbonisation need to be considered within tender process 

Delivery Readiness All LAs will have the same issues around fleet and work has been done at a 
Gwent level so we should work together to make the case for investment. 
 
Users  need to understand the technology  

Workforce 
Readiness 

Training on vehicles for garage mechanics 

  
3 Infrastructure for Large Vehicles.  Fuelling (EV, hydrogen etc.) and other changes needed to 
Depot(s).   

  

Page 62



  
 

  

Difficultly Level:  Medium (for BGCBC costs are high but technology exists), but High (for Grid 

Capacity that will be needed to supply energy which outside of our control) 

Technical 
Readiness 

Current Depot is restrictive, limited space, double parking etc.  Will need to 

be space for all vehicles to park by charging points.  New Depot would allow 
us to accommodate transition to fleet of EV's. 

New Depot will need to be a carbon neutral facility.  In order to ensure that 

fleet running off renewable electricity will need both solar and storage 

battery capacity   

There is a wider issue of grid infrastructure that is needed - costs for installing 
could be an issue, also grid capacity is a significant issue.  Heads of Valleys 

already running near capacity.  This is larger issue than just BG, Western 

Power operates at larger scale covering number of other areas through 

same grid.  Green Recovery Investment being explored for SE Wales 

including Rassau to address, available funding is £20million, but total costs 

could be £40-50 million. 

The space and cost implications of Hydrogen are even greater than electric .  

Hydrogen storage, production is difficult, costly and would need a lot of 

investment.  Could BG achieve economically viable scale?  Some 

investigation taking place for Hydrogen pipeline for Heads of Valleys. 

Financial 
Readiness 

New Depot is significant investment, additional upfront cost to ULEV fleet. 

Policy Readiness   

Delivery Readiness Current work ongoing to replace existing depot with new future proofed 
facility for all plant and equipment. 

Workforce 
Readiness 

  

  
4. Infrastructure for Small Vehicles.  Including for commuting and business travel as well as fleet, 
across all council estate including education. 

Difficultly Level: Medium 

Technical 
Readiness 

There will be strain on local grid capacity from EV infrastructure at other 

council buildings.  The local electric grid will need updating for all the 

demand, not just from BGCBC.   

Need to ensure that use of infrastructure is optimised, right type of 

connections, in right place, digital system/booking to ensure that charging 

points available when needed by users. 

Financial 
Readiness 

  

Policy Readiness Need to develop frameworks for procuring from companies who will be 

installing and running charging infrastructure. 

Page 63



  
 

  

Where drawing on grid supply need to make sure that this is renewable 

electricity.  This issue of additionality important link to Transition 7- 

Electricity 

Delivery Readiness Site-based assessments will need to be undertaken to consider potential 
demand (number of points required)  and the implications of charging point 
installation upon access, parking availability etc.  Parking on schools’ sites is 

already limited. 

Unlike at Depot schools will not be able to generate all energy requirements 

via solar so more issues around ensuring that using renewable electricity. 
Accessible EV points around borough rather than at depot.  Need to consider 
where and when vehicles will need to charge. 

EV Charge points have been installed throughout Gwent and Cardiff Capital 
Region are in the process of installing more charge points 

Large number of public bodies and other organisations in BG will be doing 

same transition.  This will put additional strain on grid, but also opportunity 

to collaborate on procurement and share charging infrastructure. 

Workforce 
Readiness 

  

  
5. Fleet Maintenance.  New arrangements required for low carbon fleet.   

Difficultly Level:  Low 

Technical 
Readiness 

Adaptations needed to current workshop 

Financial 
Readiness 

  

Policy Readiness   

Delivery Readiness   

Workforce 
Readiness 

Upskill and train existing mechanics to maintain ULEV Fleet 
Collaboration with Coleg Gwent 

  
6. Home and Agile Working.  Identifying posts where possible and supporting. 

Difficultly Level: Medium 

Technical 
Readiness 

Specialist skills and technology at community hubs to enable public access 

to services.  Could have more video phone capacity with public facing 

services, including public accessing technology at community hub. 

  

Financial 
Readiness 

  

Page 64



  
 

  

Policy Readiness Work currently on going in relation to role designations (Home / Agile / 

Service) further consultation required.  Awaiting Approval of the Agile 

Working Policy due end of May.  There are still a lot of unresolved questions 

about how different patterns of work in new model will work in practise, e.g. 

community roles. 

Reasonable adjustment is an important principle in considering the different 

forms of support and changes that may have to take place for individual 

staff members. 

  

Delivery Readiness The ability to work from home or agilely varies significantly.  The scoring of 

this action is based on realising home and agile working for those who this 

is identified as being a possibility for.  A significant number of staff will not 

be able to save carbon in this way. 

 

The scale of emissions reduction from shift to home and agile working will 

not be clear until posts identified, and there will also still be variation from 

individual circumstances within role delegations. 

 

There are a large number of elements to this change. 

 

There may be other elements of service delivery that potentially conflict 

with these changes, e.g. Education Recovery Plan. 

 

Paper based systems in some areas like planning require office presence 

(Social services example of digital already being in place) 

Workforce 
Readiness 

There are substantial issues around wellbeing and health and safety that 

need to be worked through 

 

Not all people have the right equipment, chairs, tables, space reliable 

internet, extra heating and electric costs etc, and will be impacted differently 

by changes. 

  

7. Technology Support for Home and Agile Working.  Network capacity, hosting virtual meetings, 
support for specialist software and other service requirements.   

Difficultly Level: Medium 

Technical 
Readiness 

Digital storage, switching to cloud instead of physical server.  One system for 
council, could enhance file sharing. 

Key theme identified has been limitations of Pulse, looking to shift towards a 
VPN that will be more stable, secure and allow greater access. 

Page 65



  
 

  

Looking at software and hardware needed at home for areas such as GIS, 
looking at this over all service areas.  Currently a report going to DMT 
identifying where there are pinch points for users of specialist systems.  

Teams telephony to replace land lines, or corporate mobiles, headsets, use of 
personal device securely.  Contact Centre to work with Teams telephony. 

Bring your own device policy.  Could have significant carbon savings, but also 
issues around device performance and working hours. 

Mobile worker functionality, stop repeat visits to office, reduce printed 
instructions. Use of Always on VPN to improve accessibility of server on move.  
Could all reduce number of journeys into work base. 

Financial 
Readiness 

  

Policy Readiness Integrate carbon performance data into existing management/performance 
systems e.g. itrent. 

Delivery 
Readiness 

Home working will be extremely challenging for school staff. However, we can 
consider options as part of our Education recovery plan. 

What will be impact of community workbases?  Can technology be used to 
provide greater digital access to range of services at community hubs?  I.e. 
Members of public without digital access/skills at home can talk to range of 
services via tech at community hubs. 

The technology and infrastructure needed for home/agile working vary 
significantly with service needs.  Is there programme to identify needs?  Service 
and individual level? 

Workforce 
Readiness 

Need to recognise that there has been a significant element of making do in a 
crisis in the rapid transition to new digital arrangement for home working.  
Important that take time to make sure best arrangement are in place and 
upskill workforce.  For example, Office 365 been rolled out largely during this 
period.  Need to make sure that make full use of potential. 

  
8. Promote Alternative forms of Travel.  Encouraging shift to car sharing, public and active transport 
for commuting and business travel.   

Difficultly Level: High 

Technical 
Readiness 

There has been significant shift in commute and work travel patterns, this 
reduced demand will effect availability of car shares and public transport more 
permanently. 

The specific topography of BG is relevant, especially to active travel, also issues 
around viability of public transport compared to other urban areas. 

Page 66



  
 

  

Financial 
Readiness 

Cost associated with promotion of these alternatives are  not part of current 
budgets 

Policy Readiness Need to consider incentives for staff who do choose active travel.  For 
example, if want to cycle to work then should some of their changing time be 
part of paid work hours or rewarded in some other way? 

When providing facilities need to do assessments understand where demand 
is/will be.  Educations/schools may be important given limited ability to 
homework. 

Currently very limited information about who this promotion might be 
targeted at, and how. 

Delivery 
Readiness 

The cycle to work scheme could assist here, however, we will need to be 
recognition of importance of infrastructure for active travel, such as security of 
bikes, most importantly showering facilities if going to travel into work this 
way.  New Depot taking this into account for example.   

From a schools perspective, have traffic and travel assessments which we 
undertake when developing new sites to support engagement with staff 
around active travel, car sharing, parking and access requirements. These 
could be reviewed and adapted to capture the current context - but we will 
need to consider the timing of this, as currently, staff are discouraged from car 
sharing due to COVID-19 

Public transport could be a challenge for frontline staff that have specific start 
/ end time of work. would need significantly improved public transport 
infrastructure. 

Workforce 
Readiness 

COVID has a significant impact on this transition.  Not clear when and how be 
possible to make full use of public transport and lift shares. 

  
9. Promoting Staff uptake of Personal ULEV vehicles. 

Difficultly Level: High 

  

Technical 
Readiness 

Relatively short travel distances for BG staff mean that less issues with 

vehicle range limits, but also less potential for cost savings on energy use 

over time to offset initial purchase costs. 

 

Booking system optimisation to make charging available.  Flags up 

availability, provide link to wider networks. 

 

Aware that housing stock in BG means that home charging may be more 

limited.  We have started to see residential charging points installed, 

renewing charging points at Works, City Deal playing role.  At early stage in 

terms of low total capacity, but are seeing good usage.  However, charging 

costs will be higher than home charging. 

Page 67



  
 

  

 

Also issue of additionality, i.e. whether staff using green energy to charge 

vehicle. 

Financial 
Readiness 

Electric vehicles are much more expensive to purchase than conventional, 

and limited second hand market at moment.  Provide incentive scheme for 

staff to purchase EV, but any loans must not be too expensive to pay back.  

Policy Readiness Need to consider financial arrangements around staff charging.  Commonly 

estimates of cost savings for running costs are often based on home 

charging price of electricity.  Can BG offer similar rates at work for those 

without potential for home charging?  This would be very different from 

current situations where don’t provide petrol to staff, a completely new 

policy area. 

 

Trial rides/try before you buy something that might be offered to staff, as 

has been done elsewhere and for BG Taxi drivers. 

Delivery 
Readiness 

Infrastructure plans will need to be in place to support  staff take up.  Major 

sites where many staff travel to will be important, New Depot considering, 

also Anvil Court.  Schools, particularly secondary schools have large numbers 

of potential users, but also have limited parking/charging capacity 

Many staff work out in the community so need access to charging points at 
home and in accessible public place as well as at work base. 

Workforce 
Readiness 

Cost will be a major factor for staff  

Need to support staff by providing infrastructure in workplace car parks 

  
10. Grey Fleet Alternatives to Personal Vehicle Use for Business Travel.  Pool vehicles, car hire, car 
clubs etc. 

Difficultly Level: Low 

  

Technical 
Readiness 

  Availability of Newer electric vehicles in this area should not be an issue 

Financial 
Readiness 

Car pool / vehicles – would need to be resourced i.e. staffing / vehicle costs – 
is this needed now with the new ways of working? 

Policy Readiness For larger schemes such as pool vehicles it is achievable, the bigger question is 
whether there is sufficient demand to make viable both financially and in 
terms of saving carbon.  This would require further investigation.  Social Care 
most likely area might be beneficial. 

Car hire is down historically, but still has place for long distance travel, would 
be relatively simple to ensure that using ULEV vehicles for this. 

Page 68



  
 

  

Delivery Readiness Range of technical options that can reduce business travel: Mobile worker 
functionality, stop repeat visits to office, reduce printed instructions. Use of 
Always on VPN to improve accessibility of server on move 
Gwent are doing work around Grey Fleet - this is being supported by Welsh 
Government Energy Service this will help make the case to WG for funding to 
take things forward 

Will business use require charging points away from main workbase?  
Especially if vehicles in use throughout day 

Most crucial element in making work is the Digital booking system, route 
management system so meets service needs while not using vehicles 
inefficiently.  Could route optimisation be used for grey fleet? Not area that 
been applied to yet 

Workforce 
Readiness 

  

  
11.  Fleet Size.  Reducing number and size of vehicles in fleet, based on service needs. 

Difficultly Level: Low (Medium corporate level) 

  

Technical 
Readiness 

Route Optimisation.  Including live updates with road closures and not miss 
addresses 

Financial 
Readiness 

  

Policy Readiness Sharing vehicles across services, with system to manage. 

The number of minibuses have been reduced, historically was the case that 
some were underused, but most fleet reductions have been driven by austerity 

Where we have reduced the fleet within Community Options, potentially 

there is an increase in private cars on the road. as service users were 

accessing services via alternative means of transport in line with the Assisted 

Transport policy 
In some areas fleet is shared across several authorities with one serving as host 
hub. 

Schools do appear to be procuring more minibuses, these not hosted at council 
in same way as rest of fleet. 

More deliberate carbon led reduction of fleet size is more difficult, decisions 
have tended to be made on service by service, and case by case basis.  More 
corporate oversight of service needs and fleet use would be needed to make 
this type of carbon led reduction. 

Page 69



  
 

  

Delivery 
Readiness 

Fleet requirements are service dependant and rely on each service area to 
determine what their needs are. 

Route Optimisation.  Including live updates with road closures and not miss 
addresses 

Expand route optimisation to smaller vehicles.   

Improved use of mycouncil services, mobile worker technology.  Visit 
frequencies/service demand info inform fleet size.  E.g. Green waste collection 
seasonal demand.   

Workforce 
Readiness 

  

  
12. Procurement Fleet.  Ownership or Rental?  Use of Whole Life Costing 

Difficultly Level: High 

Technical 
Readiness 

Market forever changing, not just vehicles but associated infrastructure 
requirements.   

There are real supply shortages of suitable vehicles in some areas as large 

number of organisations looking to purchase. 

Financial 
Readiness 

Corporate Investment needed 

 
Term of ownership of vehicles need to be considered including cost analysis 
between purchase / lease and Contract Hire.  If vehicles are leased, then the 
cost of the vehicle can be spread over its useful life reducing the initial cost 
impact on the Revenue budgets. If owned/bought outright, potential for a 
Capital Receipt at the end of its useful life if sold on. 

Ability to procure vehicles in most financially effective way constrained in 

number of ways, including grant funding conditions, also the shift in 

balance of revenue and capital costs of vehicles not being reflected in 

budgets. 

Grant funding may become available at a point in time, but it is not 
guaranteed to be available when the fleet needs to be replaced 

Even when Funding is available can have Impacts on Revenue budgets of 
services as may not cover whole cost. 
Capital grants - recent grant didn't allow us to lease / contract hire, therefore 
spread the capital cost over a number of years. 

How long before there are better and more efficient vehicles are produced 

so leasing may be the best option to renew the fleet to better vehicles every 

few years? 

Policy Readiness Will need to be significant and ongoing change to existing procurement 

frameworks and specifications as market evolves. 

Page 70



  
 

  

This also relevant to consideration of issues such as whole life cycle carbon 

impacts.  Availability of information about scope 3 impacts of vehicles, 

whole life costs may be limited.  If/when available need to be considered in 

procurement decisions. 

May also include need to consider replacement batteries in decision making 

in future?  Including their use as power storage solutions 

Delivery Readiness   

Workforce 
Readiness 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Blaenau Gwent
Climate Assembly

Page 73



BLAENAU GWENT CLIMATE ASSEMBLY : REPORT

1

Blaenau Gwent Climate Assembly
Report

This report was drafted by Cynnal Cymru and the Electoral Reform Society Cymru, 
two of the organising partners of the Blaenau Gwent Climate Assembly.

Copyright © Cynnal Cymru – Sustain Wales, 2021
All rights reserved

Designed by Roseblade Media Ltd., Ebbw Vale
Tel.: 01495 524 312

Tredegar

Ebbw Vale

Brynmawr

Abertillery

Page 74

https://cynnalcymru.com/
https://www.electoral-reform.org.uk/ers-cymru/


2

The Blaenau Gwent Climate Assembly was held from 6 - 28 March 2021. 

The Assembly took place online via Zoom. 50 residents of Blaenau Gwent were selected by 
sortition to address the question:

“What should we do in Blaenau Gwent to tackle the climate crisis in a way that is fair and 
improves living standards for everyone?”

44 participants attended the first assembly session and 43 participants were present at the final 
session for voting on recommendations. Attendance was stable throughout all sessions with 43 
being the lowest attendance.

The members met for a total of 23 hours to hear evidence from over 20 different experts, 
discuss the issues, and produce recommendations for what local public service organisations, 
communities and individuals could do to address the climate crisis and improve lives for people in 
Blaenau Gwent.

The assembly members explored the following themes in the learning phase:

•	 Introduction to climate change

•	 Issues of fairness and the just transition

•	 How change happens

•	 Housing - retrofit, new build, fuel poverty, jobs & skills

•	 Nature and green space 

•	 Transport 

The agenda, videos of sessions and additional questions for speakers can be found on the 
website.

In the deliberation phase, the assembly members made recommendations under the following 
themes:

•	 Housing retrofit

•	 Housing new build

•	 Nature and green space

•	 Transport

•	 Poverty*

•	 Communication*

•	 Education*

•	 Waste and recycling*

1. Introduction

* Themes democratically selected by assembly members

Page 75

https://cynnalcymru.com/blaenau-gwent-climate-assembly/
https://cynnalcymru.com/blaenau-gwent-climate-assembly/


BLAENAU GWENT CLIMATE ASSEMBLY : REPORT

3

5 recommendations received over 80% of the vote and were officially passed by the Assembly. The 
table below shows the recommendations as drafted by assembly members.

2. Recommendations

Theme Recommendation % Support

Transport Establish an affordable, integrated road & rail transport system 
accessible throughout BG.

A one ticket system that links to bus, rail & cycle schemes - 
inclusivity for purchasing of tickets (digital or paper).

Accessible all hours with safety via lighting, CCTV and to keep 
maintained.

91

Transport Establish & improve a safe, easily maintainable infrastructure 
for walkers & cyclists, for either recreational or work purposes, 
with access to the public transport network. Including lighting & 
CCTV & storage for bikes.

88

House retrofit Train local tradespeople, create qualifications and upskill local 
businesses, involve FE colleges and local Universities, future 
proof it and provide the right courses to enable them to do the 
work in all green construction.

86

Green space 
and nature

Implement a programme of woodland preservation and 
reforestation of BG, using the right tree in the right place for 
the right reason, increasing opportunities for jobs, biodiversity 
and connecting woodlands. Making sure the skills are available 
so we can create green jobs, e.g. saw milling and timber 
framed housing.

86

Housing new 
build

Ensure that all new build properties are built using the latest 
sustainable technologies (E.g. Glanffrwd development as a 
template), employing local builders and providing a variety of 
accommodation types appropriate for all inc. homeless/single 
occupancy up to large families.

81

A full list of recommendations voted on, ranked in order of support, is available in Appendix 1. 

Page 76



4

The Blaenau Gwent Climate Assembly was commissioned by a consortium of civil society 
organisations and housing associations. 

The organising partners were:

•	 Cynnal Cymru - Sustain Wales 

•	 Electoral Reform Society Cymru 

•	 Linc Housing Cymru

•	 Melin Homes

•	 Tai Calon Community Housing Association

•	 United Welsh Housing Association 

 
In early 2020, in the context of other existing and future decarbonisation initiatives in the housing 
sector1, Cynnal Cymru, ERS Cymru and United Welsh Housing met to discuss how housing 
tenants and wider communities might be more involved in decarbonisation plans of Housing 
Associations, public bodies and other anchor organisations. 

The idea for the Blaenau Gwent Climate Assembly was a result of  these discussions between 
organising partners. It was funded through Welsh Government’s Innovative Housing Programme – 
Optimised Retrofit Programme.

We also worked closely with Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council (BGCBC) and Blaenau 
Gwent Public Service Board (PSB) from the early stages of the project.

Why Blaenau Gwent? 

The four commissioning Housing Associations share 24% of the housing stock in Blaenau 
Gwent and were already collaborating on an initiative to strengthen and support local suppliers in 
Blaenau Gwent through the Welsh Government’s Foundational Economy Challenge Fund 2020.

In 2020, Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council declared a climate emergency. The PSB agreed 
to establish a Climate Mitigation Steering Group to develop a long term plan to reduce carbon 
emissions in Blaenau Gwent. 

Blaenau Gwent therefore had a framework in place under which an action plan was being 
developed and key local stakeholders who were looking at how to involve the community.

3. Why a climate assembly in
	 Blaenau Gwent?

1 Carbon Literacy Cartrefi Cymru, Welsh Government’s Optimised Retrofit Programme

Page 77

https://cynnalcymru.com/
https://www.electoral-reform.org.uk/ers-cymru/
https://www.linc-cymru.co.uk/
https://www.melinhomes.co.uk/
https://www.taicalon.org/
https://www.unitedwelsh.com/contact/
https://www.blaenau-gwent.gov.uk/
https://www.blaenaugwentpsb.org.uk/
https://www.blaenaugwentpsb.org.uk/
https://businesswales.gov.wales/foundational-economy
https://cynnalcymru.com/carbon-literacy-cartrefi-cymru/
https://gov.wales/written-statement-optimised-retrofit-programme-2020-21


BLAENAU GWENT CLIMATE ASSEMBLY : REPORT

5

4. Organisation of the Assembly

Confirmation of funding for the Blaenau Gwent Climate Assembly was received in November 2020. 

A Steering Group was formed shortly after to (i) decide on the overall question and core themes 
for the Assembly (Housing, Transport, Nature and Green space) and (ii) ensure the impartiality and 
fairness of the process. In the early stages, the theme of food was also included, however, it was 
later excluded as a core theme due to time constraints.

The Steering Group met eight times prior to the start of the Assembly, once at an interim review 
and once at a final review.

Members of the Steering Group are at Appendix 2. 

In addition to the organising partners, Steering Group members and experts, the following groups 
and organisations also played key roles in the Assembly process:

•	 Sortition Foundation - sortition

•	 Mutual Gain – support with agenda development and lead facilitation

•	 Involve - advisory capacity, providing training for facilitators and scribes 

•	 Wales Co-operative Centre - Zoom training

•	 Volunteer facilitators, scribes and tech support drawn from the organising partners and 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council

Page 78

https://www.sortitionfoundation.org/
https://www.mutualgain.org/
https://www.involve.org.uk/
https://wales.coop/


6

5. Who are the Assembly members 
	 and how were they selected?

Assembly members were selected at random from the general public through sortition. 

Sortition allows the selection of members to be stratified by local demographics, in this case: 
gender, age, ethnicity, geographic location, residence status, attitude to climate change and Welsh 
Index of Multiple Deprivation. This random selection combined with representative sampling meant 
that the wider community could be confident that assembly members were fellow citizens and 
were not representing special interests.

January 2021

Bilingual invitations sent to 10,000 households across Blaenau Gwent (living in 1 in 3 homes in the 
borough) providing information about the Assembly process and compensation (£250 in cash or 
vouchers). 

February 2021

From 264 interested respondents, 50 participants were selected who were representative of the 
demographics mentioned above.

Sortition Foundation provided a breakdown of information and contact details of those selected 
and the remaining interested persons to the organisers. 

From the final selection, several people told us they could no longer participate due to family and 
work commitments. These places were offered to others on the reserve list corresponding to the 
same demographic criteria, where possible.

The final number of participants at the first session of the Assembly was 44. Throughout sessions, 
the number of participants varied between 43 to 44 with 43 being present at the final vote.

The demographics of the 43 members are shown in the following pie charts.

Page 79

https://gov.wales/welsh-index-multiple-deprivation-full-index-update-ranks-2019
https://gov.wales/welsh-index-multiple-deprivation-full-index-update-ranks-2019


BLAENAU GWENT CLIMATE ASSEMBLY : REPORT

7

Target Demographics of BG Selected (Final Confirmed)

Gender

Male

Female

Other

Male

Female

Other

Age

16-29

30-44

45-59

60+

16-29

30-44

45-59

60+

Locale
Sirhowy

Ebbw Fawr

North Ebbw
Fach

South Ebbw
Fach

Sirhowy

Ebbw Fawr

North Ebbw
Fach

South Ebbw

Tenure Owner: outright,
mortgage or
loan and shared
ownership

Registered
social landlord

Rented: Private
landlord, letting
agency & other

Owner: outright,
mortgage or
loan and shared
ownership

Registered
social landlord

Rented: Private
landlord, letting
agency & other

Page 80



8

Target Demographics of BG Selected (Final Confirmed)

Attitude 
to climate 
change

Very concerned

Fairly concerned

Not very
concerned/Not at
all/other/don't
know

Very concerned

Fairly concerned

Not very
concerned/Not
at all/other/don't
know

Ethnicity

White

Ethnically
diverse
communities

White

Ethnically
diverse
communities

WIMD 
Decile

"1"

"2"

"3"

"4-5"

"6-10"

"1"

"2"

"3"

"4-5"

"6-10"

Data on target demographics, selection and final participants can be found here.

A range of support was provided prior to and during the Assembly to ensure it was accessible. 
This included providing assembly members with tablets in the absence of owning hardware, 
establishing an internet connection via Wifi dongles and three hours of tech drop-in sessions to 
ensure members were able to fully access Zoom.

Page 81

https://cynnalcymru.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Blaenau-Gwent-Climate-Assembly-demographics-2021.pdf


BLAENAU GWENT CLIMATE ASSEMBLY : REPORT

9

6. Engaging the wider community

It was important that the wider community was engaged in the process to (i) inform the 
Assembly’s discussions, and (ii) as a means of ensuring accountability for implementation of the 
recommendations.

Engagement with the wider community was undertaken through the following methods:

The BG Assembly website had the option to register via email to receive bilingual updates 
on the Assembly via Mailchimp. Interested respondents to the invitation were also invited to 
sign up to receive these updates. In total, 66 people signed up to receive updates.

Anyone living or working in Blaenau Gwent was able to respond to the question for 
consideration by the Assembly via Pol.is

Pol.is is an interactive surveying tool which invites users to agree/disagree with statements 
relating to an overall question. It also allows users to add their own statements for others to 
vote on. 

The interactive survey ran for three weeks and closed on 22 March 2021. 135 people voted. 
5,594 votes were cast and 132 statements were submitted to respond to the assembly 
question. The results of the survey were presented to the Assembly during the deliberation 
phase.

Social media accounts of the organising partners and BGCBC were used to communicate 
about the climate assembly.iii

ii

i

Page 82

https://cynnalcymru.com/climate-assembly-give-your-views/


10

7. Assembly Process

The Assembly process was in three phases; learning, deliberation and voting. 

The learning phase consisted of:

•	 Introduction to critical thinking.

•	 Speakers giving evidence and their expertise on the themes of the assembly.

•	 Assembly members asking questions of speakers and engaging in discussion with 
them.

Learning was supplemented by ‘speaker templates’ (additional information on the speaker and 
their topic) and any questions not answered in session were answered via email. At the end of 
the learning phase, assembly members voted on the speakers that they thought could help them 
answer the question the best. These speakers were brought back for more in depth discussions 
with small groups of assembly members. 

In the deliberation phase:

•	 Assembly members voted on four additional themes to develop recommendations 
around.

•	 Members chose which theme they’d like to draft recommendations for. In groups, three 
recommendations per theme were drafted. 

•	 Each group visited the seven other themes to ask questions and comment on the draft 
recommendations.

•	 Using these questions and comments, the original groups refined and amended their 
recommendations to be put forward for voting. 

In the voting phase final recommendations were voted on by assembly members. 43 out of 44 
Assembly members voted  - with one member not attending the final sessions to vote because of 
health issues. Five recommendations received over 80% of the votes and were officially passed by 
the Assembly. 

Throughout the process, facilitation was used to create conversations which were inclusive, 
respectful, to the point, honest and constructive. 

2ND
MARCH

6TH
MARCH

7TH
MARCH

16TH
MARCH

27TH
MARCH

28TH
MARCH

Session 1

Welcome

Session 2

Introducing 
climate change

Session 3

Affecting 
change 

Session 4

Housing

Session 5

Housing 
continued 

Nature/Green 
Space

Session 6

Transport and 
Future 

Generations 

Session 7

Making sense of 
our learning 

Session 8

Theming our 
recommendations 

with experts 

Session 9

Prioritising 
recommendations 

within themes 

Session 10

Refining 
recommendations 

and voting 

Page 83

https://cynnalcymru.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/BG-Climate-Assembly-Chris-Blake.pdf


BLAENAU GWENT CLIMATE ASSEMBLY : REPORT

11

8. Next Steps

The Assembly’s recommendations were presented to the chief executives of the 4 commissioning 
Housing Associations on Tuesday 13 April 2021.

Assembly members presented the recommendations and took part in the discussions. 
The Housing Associations have committed to providing written responses to the five main 
recommendations setting out how they will incorporate or support them.

A further selected group of volunteer from the Assembly presented the recommendations to the 
PSB Climate Mitigation Group on 26 April 2021. The PSB Climate Mitigation Group will provide 
written responses to the five main recommendations setting out if and how they will support their 
implementation. These written recommendations will be presented to the wider PSB.

A number of members are staying in contact with each other via a Facebook group. Assembly 
members are also being kept informed about further participatory processes in Blaenau Gwent, 
including a participatory budgeting initiative led by Mutual Gain.

The organising partners will be tracking progress of implementation of the recommendations, 
particularly around the time of the election in 2022. We will also look to secure resources to 
maintain momentum around the recommendations and continued inclusion of assembly members 
in progress of implementation. 

This is our
Blaenau Gwent

We all have a 
part to play

Get involved, 
this is your 
community

Help us make a 
change

If you are in 
charge - do your 
job, get off your 

a** and do it!

Citizen 
assemblies 
are the way 

forward

Final messages from some Assembly members

Page 84



12

9. Learnings

The Assembly process had to strike a balance between time constraints due to funding, the 
amount of funding available, the number of participants and adequate time for learning and 
deliberation. The total time for the Assembly was two weekends (10 hours per weekend) and two 
evening sessions (3 hours). 
	
It is clear from the evaluation responses that participants felt rushed at times during the three 
phases (learning, deliberation and recommendation) of the Assembly. In particular, the evening 
session on Transport on Tuesday 16 March was felt to be too much information from 4 speakers 
in such a short space of time. In contrast, the session during the learning phase with only three 
speakers in one afternoon (7 March) with more time to go into detail, received positive feedback.

“More time for the speakers to say what they needed to and information about the speakers 
given to us before they came to speak with us would have been helpful. It may have allowed 

us to prepare questions relevant to what they were telling us.”

“I thought it went fab not enough time granted but everybody was helpful.”

	 Fundingi

The following key learnings are a summary of those identified by project partners and through 
feedback provided by others involved, including facilitators, observers and members.

The funding for this Climate Assembly came from a pot of engagement funding from Welsh 
Government’s Innovative Housing Programme. The total funding for this assembly was £50,000. 
We know from work on other assemblies and discussions with other practitioners that this is a very 
low budget to try to deliver a deliberative project to this scale. 

As a result of this limited budget organising partners made certain concessions including:

•	 A lower payment to assembly members- assembly members were paid at over living 
wage, above £10 per hour. However, we know from other assemblies that a higher rate 
of remuneration is often offered which might have been more likely to result in a higher 
sign up rate from the 10,000 letters sent to residents in Blaenau Gwent. 

•	 A reliance on volunteers - The Assembly relied on volunteers for nearly all roles 
including facilitators and scribes, tech support and speakers. Ideally, we would have 
remunerated all of these roles in recognition of the time and effort given to this project. 

•	 Limiting payment to the organising partners - only a small proportion of organisers’ time 
has been remunerated for this 6 month long project.

It is also worth emphasising the difficulty in securing funding for a climate assembly might limit the 
potential for other such assemblies unless commissioned by local or national government.

	 Time vs. topics coveredii

Page 85



BLAENAU GWENT CLIMATE ASSEMBLY : REPORT

13

Facilitators and scribes also fed back to us that the time with assembly members was limited on 
some occasions. 

“We covered a lot in a short period of time which although did feel a little rushed at times, I 
feel was the right thing to do. The range of topics engaged more people.”

(Quote from facilitator)

The Involve guidance suggests at least 30 hours for a citizens’ assembly and it is acknowledged 
by the organisers that more time would have been preferable to allow the Assembly to explore 
themes in more detail and to have more time for discussion. In retrospect, alternative formats such 
as exploring one main theme (e.g. Housing) and leaving additional time for the Assembly to invite 
speakers on topics suggested by them may have helped the Assembly feel less rushed in the time 
available.

In addition to the time spent online, the Assembly was also provided with speaker templates and 
written responses to questions that speakers had not been able to answer in the time available. It 
is recognised that not all members would have had the capacity to review these between sessions 
and therefore time spent on additional reading was not compulsory. 

The Assembly administration needed was extensive.

ERS Cymru, Cynnal Cymru and United Welsh led on the administration which included:

•	 Communication with third party consultants 

•	 Organisation of facilitators, observers and speakers 

•	 Organisation and provision of tech support

•	 Communication with local and Welsh Government

•	 Communication with Assembly participants

•	 Liaising with lead facilitators (Mutual Gain)

•	 Coordination of Steering Group meetings 

•	 Communications - including website, social media

•	 Engagement with commissioning organisations

Support for video editing and tech support during sessions was provided by consultants through 
Mutual Gain.

A key learning is to have a designated admin team in addition to project managers to ensure timely 
and efficient administration.

	 Administrative capacity and other rolesiii

Page 86

https://www.involve.org.uk/resources/knowledge-base/how-do-i-setup-citizens-assembly/standards-citizens-assemblies
https://cynnalcymru.com/climate-assembly-sessions/
https://cynnalcymru.com/climate-assembly-sessions/


14

A recurring theme raised by members was their need for more effective communication and 
engagement by local organisations in relation to the big changes required to decarbonise. For 
example, plans for local transport, electric vehicle (EV) infrastructure and retrofitting homes. 

The presence of representatives from local organisations at the Assembly provided an opportunity 
for a two way process of listening and learning with a view to constructive discussion leading to the 
creation of recommendations.

This process helped to build trust which could be built on further with continued engagement and 
communication about implementation and progress of the recommendations. 

	 Opportunity for engagementv

	 Importance of facilitationvi

Due to budgetary constraints, we relied on volunteers to facilitate and scribe the sessions. All 
volunteers were provided with specific training via Involve, which took place over two half day 
sessions.

Feedback from the evaluation underlines the excellent job done by facilitators and scribes with 
97% of respondents feeling included in small group discussions and 100% feeling respected 
by the facilitators. Assembly members also noted the important role of facilitators in ensuring 
discussions between members were conducted with respect.

“The facilitators were great and really helped get people to share their thoughts in a 
comfortable way”

However, none were experienced in facilitating citizens’ assemblies and required additional support 
in advance and following sessions. One member had felt a facilitator had not been bold enough in 
ensuring their voice was heard. 

24% of respondents to the evaluation also felt that the facilitators tried to influence their group 
with their own ideas. This is likely due to inexperience and the need for more support and training, 
rather than any deliberate attempt to influence. 

As national organisations, the organising partners engaged local stakeholders at an early stage in 
the process. 

The most important of these was BGCBC and the PSB Climate Mitigation Steering Group. 
Organising partners met with both BGCBC and the Climate Mitigation Group early on to explain 
the context and their hope that the Assembly process and recommendations would inform 
decarbonisation plans of public bodies in Blaenau Gwent, as well as those of the housing 
associations.

BGCBC and the PSB Climate Mitigation Steering Group became collaborative partners in the 
Assembly process, with representatives sitting on the Assembly Steering Group and volunteering 
as scribes and facilitators.

The speakers whom the Assembly found particularly engaging were those with local knowledge 
and/or experience that they could see as relevant to issues needing addressed in Blaenau Gwent. 

	 Involvement of local organisationsiv

Page 87



BLAENAU GWENT CLIMATE ASSEMBLY : REPORT

15

Feedback from facilitators also highlights the need for more information about the format and 
expectations of sessions. 

“I think as facilitators it would have been useful to have the full rundown of the day a little 
sooner rather than later”

“There was a lot of confusion about the briefing notes not matching the detailed plan that 
was a bit confusing”

In the recommendations phase of any citizens’ assembly, facilitators have a key role in ensuring 
recommendations are clear. Further support for facilitators to ensure recommendation criteria were 
understood and facilitators felt confident in drafting recommendations would have been beneficial.

“I believe some of the very good recommendations failed due to their wording. Therefore 
much more time needed to refine and refine final proposals.”

	 Transparency of processvii

The lead facilitators provided an overview of the format and purpose of each stage of the 
Assembly to provide certainty to the members and ensure transparency of the process. 

At the voting stage, there were two issues that led to confusion potentially undermining the 
transparency of the process for some of the Members. Both instances highlight the need to ensure 
assembly members fully understand the voting process (e.g. through Q&A, practice votes) before 
voting commences. 

i) Confusion as to whether ‘neutral’ was counted as a vote for or against a 
recommendation

During the voting stage, assembly members were asked to vote on the recommendations by Zoom 
poll using ‘Strongly Agree’ - ‘Agree’ - ‘Neutral’ - ‘Disagree’ - ‘Strongly Disagree’.

Shortly after the first few votes, an assembly member raised concerns that it was not clear that a 
‘neutral ‘ vote did not count towards support for the recommendation. As such, the voting process 
was restarted. 

ii) Suggestion to lower the voting threshold from 80% 

Of 24 recommendations formed by the Assembly, five received the 80% vote to pass as official 
recommendations (80% being the normal threshold for citizens’ assemblies’ recommendations). 
Approximately three quarters of the way through the voting process, a suggestion was made by 
the lead facilitator for assembly members to vote on whether the threshold should be lowered. A 
vote was held on whether to reduce the threshold, which secured 70% support and therefore did 
not pass. 

The voting process should have been explained more clearly before members’ started to vote, in 
particular the threshold required for a recommendation to pass and that there is precedent for this 
being lowered if an 80% majority of Members voted to do so. 

Page 88



16

	 Other learning pointsviii

Summarised below are some additional learnings that we wanted to highlight:

•	 The Assembly process can inspire individual action as well as collective 
recommendations.

•	 The learning phase is a two way process between speakers and assembly members - 
through asking questions and challenging speakers, the Assembly bring theories and 
policy back to reality.

•	 Assembly members of local citizens’ assemblies bring their local knowledge, interests 
and lived experience to the consideration of issues. The expertise of local people is of 
real value and underlines the need for local assemblies.

•	 Local climate assemblies are not a replacement for a national climate assembly - If 
we are to tackle climate change at the scale required, we need both local assemblies 
and national assemblies to engage people of Wales in the processes that happen at 
different levels.

•	 This model of deliberative democracy should be used beyond climate- there are a 
number of significant issues facing Wales. Citizens’ assemblies should be used as part 
of a toolkit of policy process to address these issues.

“I feel worried for our future if we continue living as we are. I have already started making 
changes to my own lifestyle and have been encouraging others to do the same.”

“Heartening to see a cross-section of fellow BG people commit to taking part fully, to 
getting stuck in to such a crucial issue.”

“I felt very frustrated at the end with the voting as felt that so much time had been spent 
working through the recommendations for them not to get the 80 percent”

The evaluation clearly shows members’ frustration at the voting process and the number of 
recommendations passed by the Assembly. On the latter point, it could be interesting in future 
assemblies to build in a mechanism for understanding why members voted in a certain way.

Page 89



BLAENAU GWENT CLIMATE ASSEMBLY : REPORT

17

10. Evaluation Responses

The members of the Assembly were invited to complete a short evaluation survey on 29 March 
(following final recommendations on 28 March). 

37 Assembly members completed the evaluation which had a total of 12 questions designed to 
gauge the members’ emotional and practical experience of the Assembly.

Responses to the evaluation have been used throughout the report to highlight learnings. 

In terms of process:

•	 Over 65% of participants felt that the Assembly increased their confidence with using 
technology 

•	 70% of respondents felt that there was sufficient time to learn about the issues before 
making recommendations

•	 35% of respondents felt that there was enough time for discussion and deliberation

•	 86% of respondents felt that information was presented in a fair and balanced way

•	 95% of respondents rated their overall enjoyment of the Assembly a 4 or 5 on a scale 
from 1 to 5 (1 being ‘not at all’ and 5 being ‘very much’)

The full evaluation survey results are available here.

Page 90

https://cynnalcymru.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Blaenau-Gwent-Climate-Assembly-feedback-2021-FINAL.pdf


18

11. Carbon emissions of a virtual
	 assembly

Throughout the process, we were mindful of the carbon footprint of the Assembly. For example, we 
chose not to print and send any materials to participants save for reasons of accessibility. 

We calculated an approximate carbon footprint of the online assembly to be 55.193 Kg CO2e.  You 
can read more about how we calculated this and how this might compare to an in person assembly 
here.

55.193

 KG CO2e

Page 91

https://cynnalcymru.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Blaenau-Gwent-Climate-Assembly-Carbon-Footprint-2021.pdf


BLAENAU GWENT CLIMATE ASSEMBLY : REPORT

19

Appendix 1
Recommendations

Theme Recommendation % Support

Housing 
Retrofit

Train local trades people, create qualifications and upskill local 
businesses, involve FE colleges and local Universities, future 
proof it and provide the right courses to enable them to do the 
work in all green construction.

86

Blaenau Gwent must create an accessible, practical, well 
publicised information platform for all (an upgraded website, an 
app, information lines and local one stop ‘retrofitted shops/hubs’ 
for advice and demonstrations on all things green throughout the 
area. 

70

Every home below EPC ‘c’ must have a retrofitting survey 
by 2023, with a view to implementing the actions that are 
recommended and starting the work within 12 months where 
funding options are in place.

67

Housing 
Newbuild

Ensure that all new build properties are built using the latest 
sustainable technologies (E.g. Glanffrwd development as a 
template), employing local builders and providing a variety of 
accommodation types appropriate for all inc. homeless/single 
occupancy up to large families.

81

Prioritize brown field sites over green belt for new builds and 
ensure green space created within new developments

79

Provide green energy grants to assist all new build purchases 
to all people and provide green incentives for all energy efficient 
properties. T’s + C’s stipulate 5 yr occupancy otherwise grant to 
be repaid.

56

Nature and 
Green Space

Implement a programme of woodland preservation and 
reforestation of BG, using the right tree in the right place for the 
right reason, increasing opportunities for jobs, biodiversity and 
connecting woodlands. Making sure the skills are available so 
we can create green jobs, e.g saw milling and timber framed 
housing.

86

Create roles for coordination, cultivation and support of the 
use of green spaces (allotments, woodlands and urban green 
spaces) by the community to benefit all generations and create 
a sense of community ownership. Supporting communities in 
activities including food growing, recreation, bio-diversity, green 
prescribing, green space planning and aesthetics (e.g Blaenau 
Gwent in Bloom).

77

The table below shows the recommendations as drafted by the Assembly.

Page 92



20

Theme Recommendation % Support

Nature and 
Green Space

Develop a community owned/part-owned green energy 
programme e.g. solar farms, wind farms, or hydro electric. 
Supported by community green bonds. Making sure bonds are 
accessible and provide beneficial return.

74

Transport Establish an affordable, integrated road & rail transport system 
accessible throughout BG. A one ticket system that links to 
bus, rail & cycle schemes - inclusivity for purchasing of tickets 
(digital or paper). Accessible all hours with safety via lighting, 
CCTV and to keep maintained.

91

Establish & improve a safe, easily maintainable infrastructure 
for walkers & cyclists, for either recreational or work purposes, 
with access to the public transport network. Including lighting 
& CCTV & storage for bikes.

88

Incentivise a community based electric car sharing scheme 
(24/7) where you either hire a vehicle for self or share (Uber 
system) a vehicle with safety in mind. 

33

Education Set a goal and support schools to source Welsh/British, 
sustainable produce and increase the use of these products 
over time, to include more vegetarian options.

74

Make climate change and its impacts mandatory, interactive 
(e.g. competitions, prizes, rewards), relevant to the local area 
in the school curriculum. The council should assist schools 
with projects relevant to the age and practical involvement by 
the young people with the wider community.

62

Offer short courses on climate change to individuals, local 
businesses, tradespeople, and decision-makers through 
educational institutions or by children in schools.

57

Waste and 
Recycling

Establish local Repair hubs to Re-use/re-purpose/upcycle 
items.

79

Reinstate community skips - to robustly address fly-tipping 
& litter - siting of more litter bins that are emptied more 
often.  Install & monitor more CCTV/enhanced measures at 
known fly-tipping spots.  Re-direct fly-tipping & CCTV costs to 
community skips and in time it would pay for itself.

65

Set up an enhanced information website, newsletter & 
community boards to promote transparency and sharing of 
information about recycling and how to access these services 
- this would improve awareness for future consultation on 
these issues.

63

Communication Develop a local Climate Change Communications Strategy for 
promoting climate change action within the community at all 
levels by 2022 to be reviewed annually.

67

Page 93



BLAENAU GWENT CLIMATE ASSEMBLY : REPORT

21

Theme Recommendation % Support

Communication Set up a Climate Change Communications Network that 
oversee the evolving Strategy (to be cross sector including 
citizens and youth representatives) sharing best practice, 
information and knowledge.

63

Employ dedicated local Communication Officer(s) to lead on 
the Climate Change Communication Strategy.

53

Poverty Providing infrastructure, training and funding to businesses 
(new, growing and existing) within the local economy – e.g 
apprenticeships, employment and volunteering opportunities.

72

Providing centralised grants to improve energy performance of 
all homes and reduce fuel poverty and energy usage by 2027.

70

Providing advice, space and funding for communities to create 
their own local hub with a network of Outreach Officers.

58

Please note that % support for some recommendations have been updated due to review of 
raw data.

Page 94



22

Appendix 2
Steering Group Members

•	 Ben Saltmarsh (NEA Cymru)

•	 Bethan Proctor (CHC Cymru)

•	 Bev Jones (Melin Homes)

•	 Chris Blake (The Green Valleys CIC)

•	 Daniel Wheelock (Blaenau Gwent CBC)

•	 Darcey Howell (Blaenau Gwent Youth Forum)

•	 Jess Blair (ERS Cymru)

•	 Joe Frampton (United Welsh)

•	 Judy Phipps  (Blaenau Gwent over 50s forum)

•	 Professor Julie Froud (University of Manchester)

•	 Justine Scorrer (Linc Cymru)

•	 Lorraine Whitmarsh (Director, Centre for Climate Change and Social Transformation)

•	 Luke Penny (Cynnal Cymru)

•	 Mara Moruz (Blaenau Gwent Youth Forum)

•	 Matthew Matthias (ERS Cymru) 

•	 Nia Thomas (ERS Cymru)

•	 Owain Israel (Linc Cymru)

•	 Richard Thomas (United Welsh Housing)

•	 Sarah Freeman (NRW)

•	 Sarah Hopkins (Cynnal Cymru)

•	 Steve Cranston (United Welsh Housing)

•	 Tim Daley (Digital Public Services Wales)

•	 Trisha Hoddinot (Melin Homes)

Page 95



Cynnal Cymru - Sustain Wales
Cambrian Buildings

Mount Stuart Square
Cardiff Bay
CF10 5FL

02920 192021

Page 96



Executive Committee and Council only 
Date signed off by the Monitoring Officer: 
Date signed off by the Section 151 Officer:  

 

Committee:  Regeneration Scrutiny Committee 

Date of meeting: 15th September 2021 

Report Subject:  Regeneration & Development Performance Report 

Portfolio Holder:  Cllr D Davies, Executive Member Regeneration and 
Economic Development 

Report Submitted by: Richard Crook, Corporate Director Regeneration & 
Community Services 

 

Reporting Pathway 
Directorate 

Management 
Team 

Corporate 
Leadership 

Team 

Portfolio 
Holder / 

Chair 

Audit 
Committee 

Democratic 
Services 

Committee 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

Executive 
Committee 

Council Other 
(please 
state) 

 26.08.21 05.09.21   15.09.21 22.09.21   

 

1.  Purpose of the Report 
1.1 

 

 

 

To present the annual service activity from April 2020 to July 2021 and 
highlight how the Department is contributing to four of the Council’s Corporate 
aims of delivering a: 

 Prosperous Wales 

 Resilient Wales 

 Healthier Wales 

 More equal Wales 

 Globally responsible Wales, and 

 A Wales of more cohesive communities. 
  
2.  Scope and Background 

2.1.  The Regeneration and Development Department has gone through a year of 
changes and temporary restructuring to manage Covid-19 work, whilst still 
delivering some of the main priorities for BG. The teams continue to focus on 
delivering a more structured program of work based around the priority areas 
identified in the Council’s Corporate Plan 2018/22. 

 Housing 

 Employment and Skills 

 Destination Management and Tourism 

 Energy and Digital 

 Town centres 
  
2.2.  The performance report makes reference to the Wellbeing of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act 2015 which not only underpins the Council’s aims, 
but also guides the ways in which sustainable development can be delivered 
through: 

 Collaboration 

 Integration 

 Involvement 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

Page 97

Agenda Item 9



  
 

  

2.3.  From the report the achievements Housing continues to show a marked 
improvement in numbers of affordable and private homes delivered and 
delivery of new sites for housing; with high numbers of homes accessing 
funding for making them more energy efficient. Alongside this the early 
intervention for homelessness means 73% of potentially homeless households 
were prevented from becoming homeless. Planning enquiry responses were 
down due to IT issues that are being addressed. 

  
2.4.  Employment and Skills showcases the Aspire shared apprenticeship scheme 

with success being demonstrated through businesses taking on a second 
apprentice following a productive first experience. The Council’s industrial 
portfolio is at 85% occupancy rate, supporting 615.5 jobs and newly developed 
units coming to market offering an additional 26,000 sq ft. Start-ups in BG 
higher than this time last year by 6.7% and community benefits to a number of 
communities delivered through physical projects. STEM delivery in schools is 
increasing through a successful bid to Tech Valleys for more resource and the 
future skills academy being progressed further for the former Monwell building. 
Covid-19 related support grants to businesses amounted to £1.9M (894 
grants) delivered alongside other priorities.  

  
2.5.  The 2020-25 collaborative Destination Management Plan has been completed 

plus Covid-19 response through grants and support has continued for Tourism 
across BG. Work with individual businesses to help them maximise their 
tourism potential and working across the Head of the Valleys on events and 
festivals has also been undertaken. 

  
2.6.  The Energy Prospectus has been completed ‘Energy Generation 

Opportunities’ is now in the market place. Funding for electric charging points 
in BG has been successful enabling 73 charge points across 35 sites for the 
community and visitors in addition to workplace, taxi and bus points. Work on 
the Refit program of works continues – 6000 non-LED street lights have been 
replaced with LEDs and will generate energy savings for the Council. Hydro 
and wind generation projects are being investigated in detail. The GovTech 
Catalyst project is in the last stages of development and final reporting will 
enable BG to assess the suitable tech for us. £20million National Digital 
Exploitation Centre (NDEC) is running and has started to assist SMEs and 
micro businesses with cyber security and digital design – the first R&D facility 
of its kind in Wales. 

  
2.7.  Placemaking plans for all towns are now in train. Footfall has been increasing 

in towns over the last 3 months with a total of 864,612 people. Grants and 
loans for privately owned property continue to be successful with around £2M 
in total being approved. Heritage Lottery Funding in Tredegar Town Centre 
continues with NCB Town Hall and ongoing funding discussions with HLF 
continue. Rail improvements are gathering pace for both Ebbw Vale and 
Abertillery as funds from WG have been secured and funds from UK Govt are 
awaited. Key, are complex buildings and structures like Big Arch, Trinity 
Chapel and Truck Shop have all been progressed during this period.   
 

Page 98



  
 

  

2.8 A series of case studies are included to highlight some of the work that has 
been outlined in the performance report. 

  
3.  Options for Recommendation 

  
3.1 Option 1: 

That Members consider the information provided and make specific 
comments / recommendations to the Executive Committee. 
 
Option 2: 
That Members accept the report as provided. 
 

4.  Evidence of how does this topic supports the achievement of the 
Corporate Plan / Statutory Responsibilities / Blaenau Gwent Well-being 
Plan 

  
4.1.  This proposal supports the amendments made to the Outcome Statements 

within the Corporate Plan in its review in October 2019. 
 
Corporate Plan 2020/22 Outcome Statements: 
 

 Protect and enhance our environment and infrastructure to benefit our 

communities 

 Support a fairer sustainable economy and community 
 

 To enable people to maximise their independence, develop solutions and 

take an active role in their communities 

 

 An ambitious and innovative council delivering the quality services we 

know matter to our communities 

5.  Implications Against Each Option  
5.1.  Impact on Budget (short and long term impact) 
 There are no short term budget implications associated with the report.  

  
5.2.  Risk including Mitigating Actions 
 There are no risks directly associated with this report 

  
5.3.  Legal 
 There are no legal implications associated with this report.  

  
5.4.  Human Resources 
 There are no additional implications for human resources.  
  
6.  Supporting Evidence  

 
6.1.  Performance Information and Data 
 The Six Month Performance report is attached as Appendix 1. 

Page 99



  
 

  

6.2.  Expected outcome for the public 
Improved economy and community benefits from the work undertaken in the 
last 6 months 

  
6.3.  Thinking for the Long term (forward planning) 
 The strategy and action plan is designed to be a method to organise support 

to target areas of need identified through business and take account of 
changing and future business needs of Blaenau Gwent.  

  
6.4.  Collaboration / partnership working 
 The areas of collaboration are outlined in the performance report. 

  
6.5.  Integration (across service areas) 
 Integration is outlined in the performance report 

  
7.  Monitoring Arrangements  

Monitoring will be done through the Council’s Corporate Plan and Service 
business plan 
 

 Background Documents /Electronic Links  
Appendix 1 – Economic Development & Regeneration Q1 and 2 
Performance Report  

 

Page 100



Economic Development and Regeneration 

Performance Report 

July 2021 

P
age 101



 

The purpose of this report is to present service activity which highlights how we are contributing to the 

Council’s overall aim of delivering all seven national well-being goals. 

The following overview pages set out our performance for the period along with some associated 

achievements and challenges aligned to the priority areas identified in the Corporate Plan 

2020/22, which are:  

To build a collaborative culture between services, partners and communities 

working together and with people directly to shape and deliver services. i.e.  

(Community Asset Transfers),  To develop a partnership approach to 

maximising income reducing the impacts of Poverty, To actively participate in 

partnerships such as Tech Valleys and CCRCD to attract investment, To work 

with partners to provide a variety of homes, To work with partners to provide effective employment support 

and access to skills development (Apprenticeships), To increase the start-up business rate, retention and 

growth of local businesses and attract new inward investment, To develop excellent digital including internet 

and mobile network connectivity that can support the needs of the whole community, To develop a portfolio 

of potential energy opportunities to deliver economic, business and community benefits, and  To work with 

partners to develop a new vision for our town centres ensuring their long term future. 

 

This report is broken down into the themes below which have been identified for the Regeneration and 

Economic Development Service area and support delivery of the priority areas above:  

 Housing;  

 Employment and Skills; 

 Destination Management and Tourism; 

 Energy and Digital; and 

 Town Centres.  

 

We will continue to invest in our neighbourhoods so that they are places where people are proud to live. We 

have prioritised economic development and regeneration in order to bring jobs, growth and opportunity to local 

people and businesses.  

Increasing employability makes a fundamental contribution to reducing and tackling poverty and the economic 

status of the area. Supporting people to obtain and retain employment reduces reliance upon support services 

aligned to social well-being and poverty.  

P
age 102



 
 

 

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 is legislation which aims to improve the social, 

economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. The vision of this legislation is expressed in the 

seven National well-being goals.  

 

 

 

The Act also puts a duty on public bodies to apply the sustainable development principle which states they ‘must 

meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs'.  

 

 

The sustainable development principle is made up of the following five ways of working, pictured below:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Throughout this  report some areas of performance that meet these ways of working are demonstrated by the above images. 

     

P
age 103



 
 

 

C
O

LL
A

B
O

R
A

TI
O

N
 &

 I
N

TE
G

R
A

TI
O

N
 

Greenacres, 

Tredegar      

completion      

Sept 2021 

 

The following  three social housing grant    

funded projects are on site and  will deliver                                                                                                                                                                                                           

107 Social Rent properties; and  292 Open Market properties 

Golwg Y Bryn, 

Ebbw Vale  

completion      

August 2021 

Ebbw Vale School Site     

 The development has been named                      

Cefn Y Garn   

 Groundbreaking event scheduled for the   

period July to September 2021.  

 Show home complete and open within the  

Autumn period 2021 

 first homes occupied April to                          

June 2022 

The Social Housing Grant Programme 

Blaenau Gwent 

continue to work 

in partnership with 

housing partners 

Tai Calon , Linc 

Cymru, and Melin 

Homes to provide 

people with 

affordable homes 

within the 

Borough. 

P
age 104



 

Local Development Plan (LDP) 

 
During the                         

quarter 1                               

period  (April - June)    

16%  

of planning 

consultations and 

enquiries were 

responded to within 

deadlines                                    

(21 days and 10)  

 

 

 

 

The following scheme targets improvements to 

homes where households are more likely to be            

living in severe fuel poverty. The scheme also                

provides a  range of advice to help householders 

reduce their energy  usage and utility bills: 

  

The Arbed 3  scheme  was                     

completed in 2021, following                                      

an  investment of                                               

£2,736,358 to improve the energy             

efficiency of 577 properties                                             

within the Lower Ebbw Fach area. The scheme also                        

included a community  benefit investment of £7,500 that 

resulted in a Poly Tunnel being installed at Tillery Campus, 

Abertillery.  

Officers are currently working with Arbed Scheme                    

Managers to identify a further scheme to implement. 

The Council works to improve homes across Blaenau Gwent 

with the aim of increasing energy efficiency and reducing 

fuel poverty.  

P
age 105



 

LONG TERM - Development of a Blaenau Gwent 

Prospectus to support social housing delivery is 

underway and will be produced in Quarter 2.  

 

 

 

 

  

 

HOMELESSNESS - During quarter 1, 30 

households met the threshold for being 

threatened with homelessness.  Of 

these, 22 were successfully prevented 

from losing their accommodation - 73%. 

This high prevention rate has been achieved by 

targeting early intervention initiatives to prevent 

homelessness at a very early stage.   

The 2020/21 

figure remains 

below the  

Local          

Development 

Plan target of 

233 but is the 

highest figure 

since 2016.  

       The percentage of private sector dwellings 

that had been vacant for more than 6 

months at 1 April that were returned to                   

occupation during the year through direct 

action by the local  authority. 
Th

e
re

 is
 o

n
 a

v
e

ra
g

e
  
8
6

7
 l
o

n
g

 

te
m

 e
m

p
ty

 p
ro

p
e

rt
ie

s 
y
e

a
rl
y
. 

Empty properties lead to social, economic and environmental                     

concerns. Our aim is to alleviate these concerns and in turn increase 

the housing supply by reducing the number of empty homes…. 

P
age 106



 

 

 

 1 new 

apprentice 

within 

Community 

Services,  

1 new 

apprentice   

and company 

Central fire and 

Security   

Children and parent engagement sessions 

have been held in relation to 

apprenticeships and careers in 

engineering.   

 

Supported work place visits for all 

Blaenau Gwent Schools delivering 

Engineering BTEC’s. 

 
2 Multi-skilled 

engineers at 

continental 

Teves  

        Aspire Shared Apprenticeship Programme -  

   Recruitment and induction of  apprentices continues to be successful. 4/5 new companies 

have joined  already , and some of the first companies in 2015 are now                                    

recruiting  2nd apprentices off the back of the initial success. 2 on work 

experience with 

Aneurin Leisure  

 

An apprentice 

within our Transport 

section has won a 

silver award at 

the prestigious Skills 

Competition Wales  

Discussions with 

Welsh Government 

to expand the       

Aspire offering and     

demonstrate         

demand for digital                          

apprenticeships 

have taken place 

during this quarter. 

1 on a full 

traineeship for 

with the internal 

parks 

department  

1 completed  

work experience 

- now seeking  

full time 

employment  

1 new          

apprentice  

and          

company     

PMB  

U
p

sk
il
li
n

g
  

o
u

r 
fu

tu
re

 

The former Abertillery library is to be  turned into a  Training Centre     

especially for young people, providing them with skills to start         

businesses and obtain jobs in the local economy.                                   

The Training Centre will also incorporate a jobs and training advice 

service. It will also house a Community Shop and Café, doubling up as 

a training facility and promoting healthy foods and nutrition.  

LONG TERM / PREVENTION / INVOLVEMENT - The use of the 

Former Library building is aligned to the Council’s priorities in 

promoting health and well-being and building fairer 

sustainable communities by working with local 

people to address poverty and                 

 unemployment.  

An apprentice    

has been       

shortlisted for the 

Finance Awards 

Wales 

(Accounting     

Technician) 3 of the 7         

original             

apprentices have 

successfully   

completed their           

qualification 

level  

P
age 107



Refurbishment of the Monwell Building into an Advanced Engineering Centre  

 

 

 

 

 

  

Kick Start Plus is aimed at supporting new businesses from 6 months 

up to 3 years old, to help them develop and expand. The implementation of the 

programme continues, and the work undertaken by the team in their role as a 

gateway provider has proven successful with a number of businesses supported,   

offering in excess of 80 placements. 

The Tech Valleys programme has a 

vision; 

 

"In 2027 the South Wales Valleys and       

Blaenau Gwent in particular, will be 

a globally recognised centre for the             

development of new technologies, 

to support cutting edge industry” 

 

In support of this vision BGCBC and 

Coleg Gwent have proposed to      

develop an Advanced Engineering 

Centre which will create an                    

environment that will attract              

hi-tech inward investors within the                       

Advanced Manufacturing sector.  

 The proposed date for the 

centre to be operational 

and  welcoming its first                 

students is September 22.  

 Work on the preparatory 

phase continues. 

 Business case submitted to 

Welsh Government for the 

funding associated with 

the development phase, 

including the associated 

purchase of the          

equipment needed.  

INVOLVEMENT - Blaenau Gwent CBC were represented and invited to speak at a Be the 

Spark 5-9 Club  Celebration where a local Blaenau Gwent based business won Social        

Enterprise Start-up of the year – (Lundby Juniors) – over 90 attendees  

P
age 108



 8                            

Effect Funded case studies 

have been publicised on 

Social media to raise 

profile of funding available 

or business start-ups in 

Blaenau Gwent  

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 B

e
n

e
fi
ts

 

Links with local community 

groups continue to be 

established to understand and 

record local need. This allows 

opportunities in the area to be 

effectively matched with 

known local need when 

contracts are awarded.  

A number of benefits have 

been achieved during the first 

quarter  some of which are 

shown later in the document. 

     COLLABORATION - The Employment and 

Skills Strategy has been  produced and 

agreed; The plan will provide opportunities to 

raise aspirations and support economic 

growth through partnership  working.  It outlines a 

range of priorities to ensure   individuals and                           

businesses have access to the right support in terms 

of skills and  employment. 

6.7% more business start-ups 

compared to same                          

period in 2020. 

o April 2021 – ranked 9th / 22 LA’s 

o April 2020 – ranked                         

19th / 22 LA’s 

INVOLVEMENT - Women’s Business Network 

held - attendees included 3 local     

business start-ups and stakeholders 

 

. 

P
age 109



 

 

 

 

 

continues within our schools preparing pupils for the           

modern work environment.  

Key skills such as problem solving, digital literacy, critical analysis, communication and 

independent thinking are among the new skills being delivered to create a competitive 

workforce capable of adapting to the changing workplace.  

 

Lime Avenue Business Unit development 

The development comprises of 8 modern and high quality 

hybrid style business units to support the development of 

small and medium enterprise (SMEs). The units provide an 

open workspace arrangement on the ground floor with a 

mezzanine floor providing associated office provision. 

 Mapping of external STEM providers has been completed.  

 Over 20 businesses consulted so far and 11 firm commitments have been made to work with schools. 

 Discussions are in progress for a 5G project with BT and to pilot the 5G classroom. 

 9 STEM audits have been completed. 

 Plans have been drafted for 7 schools and include a range of business links and use of external providers, along with 

plans for the Enthuse programme ( schools wishing to work together). 

P
age 110



 

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

  

 
An   has                          

been added to our industrial property portfolio with the                    

introduction of hybrids (23,000) and 3k box hub (3k) 

by Business and Innovation Team  

received and dealt with since start of pandemic to date 

-   

Grant scheme 

No of 

Grants 

Awarded 

Total Value 

of Grants 
Status 

Self-Employment Bursary 30 £75,000.00 Closed 

Freelancer & Cultural 74 £185,000.00 Closed 

Freelancer & Cultural 

'Top Up' 
56 £140,000.00 Closed 

Lockdown Discretionary 213 £420,500.00 Closed 

Restrictions Discretionary 

(Round 1) 
226 £452,000.00 Closed 

Restrictions Discretionary 

(Round 2) 
222 £444,000.00 

Closed 

(10th 

March 

Freelancer & Cultural 43 £107,500.00 Closed 

Economic Resilience 

Fund 
30 £80,000.00 

Closed 

(30th June 

2021) 

 

 

P
age 111



 

is the strategic document that sets out our vision for a visitor-focussed way forward for 

tourism development in the area. It’s main output is a Destination Action Plan which sets out practical steps that if taken forward jointly 

by all stakeholders, can make a positive difference; improving the quality of the visitor experience and growing the visitor economy in 

Blaenau Gwent.   

 Blaenau Gwent has been 
awarded over 

from  

Welsh Government to 
improve & create active 

travel routes. 
 

 Active Travel is walking, 
running or cycling on 

everyday journeys – better 
for health & the 

environment. 

PREVENTION - Without a Destination Management 

Plan for Blaenau Gwent there will be no focus and 

monitoring of tourism delivery in the area. Regular business and 

community engagement addresses issues at an early stage or 

prevents them occurring in the first place.  

The Blaenau Gwent Destination Management Plan could benefit local 

businesses, residents and visitors alike through developing a more prosperous 

economy, pleasant environment and inspiring pride in our heritage.  

 

 

 

 
  

 
Promotion and                                 

encouragement 

has been carried 

out to  businesses 

to adopt                      

Barod Amdani/

Good to Go. 

The ‘We’re Good To Go’ 

scheme has been developed to 

ensure a standard-led                          

approach to tourism across the 

UK with  input from more than 40 

industry bodies including UK                      

Hospitality, the Association of 

Leading Visitor Attractions, British 

Holiday & Holiday Parks                           

Association, the British Beer and 

Pub Association and the                          

National Caravan Council as 

well as destination                                

management organisations 

across the UK. 

The of 

the  area is one reason for              

visitors coming to the  area.  

We have a special and proud 

history, a landscape that tells 

of the   earliest settlers in the 

area and a wealth  of historical 

sites,  museums and archives 

that draw in visitors on a daily 

basis.  

Worked with             

hospitality sector                        

on safe                                                

operations post                     

Covid. 

Work has continued with local developers to grow tourism and deliver new hospitality and retail 

businesses …... 

 

 

 
  

4 new                        

self-serviced                         

accommodation  

businesses                       

developed. 

 

 

 
  

Bunk house                 

at Parc Bryn Bach  

redeveloped,  

also new play                      

area and mini 

golf. 

P
age 112

https://www.visitbritain.org/visitengland-partners-national-tourist-organisations-launch-industry-standard-uk-tourism
https://www.visitbritain.org/visitengland-partners-national-tourist-organisations-launch-industry-standard-uk-tourism
https://www.instagram.com/ukhospitality/
https://www.instagram.com/ukhospitality/
https://www.alva.org.uk/
https://www.alva.org.uk/
https://www.bhhpa.org.uk/
https://www.bhhpa.org.uk/
https://www.bhhpa.org.uk/
https://beerandpub.com/
https://beerandpub.com/
https://www.thencc.org.uk/


 

 

 

 

 

  

 

The Southern Wales consortium has put together a film 

highlighting places to stay and visit across the region. 

Guardian in Six Bells represents Blaenau Gwent.                                    

https://www.youtube.com/playlist?

list=PLg9E8ui64f_SmAywFxfQ15VC1Vi14fHDk  

Photography of new product took place in April focusing on walking,                             

accommodation and hospitality. On this occasion and older couple were 

used as models and sites  covered were Roundhouse Farm holiday lets, The 

Railway and the Top House.  

Hosted author of the next Rough Guide for Wales  

 

INVOLVEMENT - Attendance at Travel Trade showcase.—The webinar took place on 1 July with 42 travel trade and group 

organisers registered. We were one of 36 businesses and organisations that took part. In advance of the on line event, 

each group organiser received a “tastes of Southern Wales” hamper. None of the Blaenau Gwent Product took up the     

offer to take part so a Top 10 destination guide was presented instead.  

P
age 113

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.youtube.com%2Fplaylist%3Flist%3DPLg9E8ui64f_SmAywFxfQ15VC1Vi14fHDk&data=04%7C01%7Calyson.tippings%40blaenau-gwent.gov.uk%7Cf797c3960b1a405fc7de08d958eda7f1%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.youtube.com%2Fplaylist%3Flist%3DPLg9E8ui64f_SmAywFxfQ15VC1Vi14fHDk&data=04%7C01%7Calyson.tippings%40blaenau-gwent.gov.uk%7Cf797c3960b1a405fc7de08d958eda7f1%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d


  

Summer Story Safaris are being set up to run in all of our town centres. Hidden in 10 shop windows in  each town will be a 

popular children’s book. The first safari has an animal theme and includes Judith Kerr’s,  The Tiger who came to tea and David 

Walliams The slightly annoying elephant.                                                                                                                                                                               

Executive member for Regeneration, Cllr Dai Davies said:                                                                                                                                                                                                     

"Our town centre businesses have had a tough time with lock downs and on line shopping.  We hope that our Summer Story Safaris 

will encourage families to explore our town centres again and while they are there find out what is available on the doorstep. You 

can’t get an ice cream in the post or get that instant lift that a bag of pick and mix gives but our towns have lots of new shops 

and fun activities for children." 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing connectivity                        

improvement work is                                              
positive,  with works to                                     

increase rail  services and                          

complete the Heads of the                              

Valleys  dualling.   

 Work to link these to  walking and                              

cycling trails continues. 

 Work is ongoing  with               

Costain to  secure                      

continued  pedestrian                     

access around the                         

dualled route.  

Collaborative work has taken 

place,  with 3 Southern Wales                           

businesses, on stills                                 

photography, destination film, 

hosting  author and a Showcase 

event where 21 tourism  products 

were promoted. 

Work is ongoing with                                   

Town Centre Business                                    

Development Officer  on                                    

Increasing  Footfall.                                             

Working with Aneurin                                   

Leisure Trust on town                                                                                      

centre Placemaking                            

project. 

 

 Work with Cwm a Mynydd Local 

Action Group to develop trails 

that link to Halls  Tramroad with                      

Bryn Oer Tramroad are currently 

on hold.  

P
age 114



 

The Energy Prospectus outlines a commitment to supporting Blaenau Gwent 

to become a local low carbon borough through  enhancing energy and 

carbon efficiency, reducing fuel poverty, improving the resilience of the local 

distribution network and maximising revenue generation potential. 

Despite ongoing challenges to secure investment needed to carry out development of the                        

energy opportunities within the prospectus, the following progress has been made so far…... 

 

– Initial regional 

project completed with all EV charging points having been 

installed across Gwent.  In total 

 in Gwent have been installed.                                           

As an addition to the initial project                    

will be  

across Blaenau Gwent. 

work is ongoing to develop a plan for the 

transition of our current fleet to low carbon emission vehicles 

and the energy infrastructure that will be required to support this 

transition.  This will include fleet and employee charge points in 

key locations that link with the Councils future working model. 

Initial investigation and feasibility studies  

are being carried out for small scale hydro generation                             

opportunities within the borough.  

Two potential sites within the wards of Cwm and Llanhilleth have 

been identified and up to two further sites from across the                 

borough are to be identified for a feasibility analysis.   

Where suitable opportunities exist this work 

could provide us with a small 

. 

projects are ongoing 

– Silent Valley            

investment                   

approach has been 

agreed, the planning 

application will be              

submitted later this 

year. 

PREVENTION - Direct Transport emissions are the first of the nine energy transitions being 

considered within the Decarbonisation Plan which targets us becoming Carbon              

Neutral by 2030.  A readiness assessment has been carried out and will be used to 

form key actions to reduce the impact of the Councils direct transport emissions . 

P
age 115



LONG TERM - We aim to support the development of power infrastructure for business investment readiness and to support 

this, discussions are ongoing with Western Power Distribution regarding the power infrastructure across Blaenau Gwent.  

 
Development of Business Energy Model to enable Business 

Parks to achieve Net Zero Outcomes   

 

 

 

  

 

Opportunities                                                

to utilise Community                                                   

Municipal Bonds  as                                                        

a way of funding                                                  

green energy related                                       

investment projects                                     

within Blaenau Gwent                               

will be explored                                                     

going forward. 

BGCBC has become a challenge owner in the Whole System Business Research                           

Innovation for Decarbonisation (WBRID)  pilot seeking to identify innovative solutions 

which will support energy supply, demand and storage  and to work towards creating  

zero energy parks as a Unique Selling Point (USP) for Blaenau Gwent. 

In total 11 submissions were received from suppliers wishing to work with Blaenau Gwent 

in Stage 1 and following a detailed evaluation  four companies were selected to           

proceed. Between February and April 2021 they worked with the Council and Welsh       

Government on the development of solutions that will support delivery of our challenge. 

Results of Stage 1 are currently being considered in conjunction with Welsh Government, 

Smart Living Team with a view towards securing funding for Phase Two and selecting the 

preferred suppliers.  

INTEGRATION - Discussions    

taking place with Community 

Services to look at options for 

f u r t h e r                                                                   

phases of the         

Refit  project.  

      The Refit programme continues, installing energy efficiency 

measures  throughout the borough.   

  Street Lighting replacement is now also completed.  In total 

 non-LED street lights have been replaced                           

with LED lights. 

P
age 116



 

LONG TERM - We aim to develop digital 

infrastructure and improve connectivity 

within the borough by promoting digital 

participation. 

 
 

 
  

A Regional Energy           

Strategy  has been          

developed by  Cardiff  

Capital Region City 

Deal with additional 

support from regional 

stakeholders, including  

Local Authority Officers. 

Work will now           

commence on next 

steps.  

GovTech Catalyst is a £20 million fund from Government Digital 

Service, UK Government to work with suppliers to solve public  

problems using innovative digital technology.  
 

Working together with Durham County Council and Government 

Digital Service we are looking at how we can use our assets to 

collect information about what is going in the streets and relay 

that information to help deliver public services more efficiently.              

 

‘Eyes on the Street’: enabling Blaenau Gwent Borough Council’s 

vehicle fleets to collect and report data as they travel around 

the borough concerning recycling participation, deterioration of 

the highways as well as monitoring and identifying highways 

violations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Phase two will continue until the summer of 2021, 

and once this is complete we will be able to 

assess whether the technology is suitable for 

wider scale deployment across a greater 

number of vehicles and coverage across the 

borough. 

 Phase One confirmed that detection of pot holes, 
road markings and road defects was possible.   

 Phase  Two  has focused upon deployment of 
the technology across the two areas of Blaenau 
Gwent and Durham.  Technology has been            
installed on two vehicles used by frontline                 
services including highways and refuse.  

INTEGRATION - If the ‘Eyes on the street’ project is successful, 

it is hoped that with machine learning and further                                    

development it may be possible to also support the service 

area to       consider the business case of short term                    

patching versus long term investment                             

in  repairing road surfaces.  

 

G
o

v
Te

c
h

 C
a

ta
ly

st
 C

h
a

ll
e

n
g

e
  

The Blaenau Gwent                                                                                     
Energy Catalyst Project                                                                         

seeks to consider how we can generate local energy,                          

distribute it locally and how we can use it to benefit                                         

Blaenau Gwent businesses and residents  

P
age 117



 

Following the exterior of                                                   

Trinity Chapel, Abertillery                                  

being originally refurbished, Blaenau Gwent                                              

Council will now work with the Coalfields                                          

Regeneration Trust,  Aneurin Leisure Trust and the                   

Welsh Government to bring the Chapel back into                       

community use . 

Funding from the Welsh Government’s Transforming 

Towns  Programme will be used for an internal refit of 

the landmark  building, turning it into a new home for 

the  town’s Library and Adult Education             

Courses; an art gallery and a support hub                        

offering employment and health advice.                                                                                                   

In addition, SmartMoneyCymru Credit Union will                         

provide a new weekly financial loans and                            

savings service from the Hub. There is also                                              

a plan to locate an ATM cash                                                                        

machine within                                                                               

the building.   

PREVENTION - The Town Centre Strategy seeks to               

ensure that town centres are safe and friendly communities  

for our residents and visitors to shop within.   

This includes projects to maintain and enhance the 

local environment, increase business occupancy 

and create an  environment in our town centres 

that encourages our residents to spend time there 

for work,  learning and leisure. The strategy                    

establishes a long term plan for the future of our 

town centres. 

 

  

TO
W

N
 C

E
N

TR
E
 L

O
A

N
S
 A

N
D

 G
R

A
N

TS
 S

C
H

E
M

E
 

Work is ongoing to engage with                 

potential town centre properties across 

Blaenau Gwent to participate in the town 

centre loans and grants scheme.   

    

1
0

 s
u

cc
es

sf
u

l a
p

p
lic

an
ts

 

Number of                      

grant applications                   

are  up compared with 

the same  period            

6 months                  

ago.  

1
1

 s
u

cc
es

sf
u

l a
p

p
lic

an
ts

 

P
age 118



 
Work on 

 continues with the first round of             

stakeholder engagement completed 

with Officers, Elected Members, Land/

Building Owners, Welsh Government, 

Transport for Wales, Coleg Gwent, Tech 

Valleys Board and Design Commission 

for Wales.   

A draft Placemaking vision document 

has been circulated amongst                  

stakeholders for their review and                

feedback. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Initial discussions with stakeholders are 

taking place regarding  

work to be undertaken in   

An application for funding is to be 

prepared. 

Work on 

continues.  Some initial stakeholder 

engagement has taken place 

including Officers, Elected Members, 

L a n d / B u i l d i n g  O w n e r s ,  We l s h 

Government.   The Tredegar Advisory 

Group have also been part of the 

engagement process.  

 

 

 

 

  

Big Arch,                                            
Ebbw Vale                                              

 

LONG TERM - Tredegar Townscape Heritage Initiative - works to the 

NCB Town Hall (Grade 2 listed) have been delayed and a new                    

contractor is being sought to complete the works.   

Discussions regarding Heritage Lottery 

Funding are ongoing with Heritage 

Lottery Fund. 

The development of a  rail link to Abertillery from the existing                                

Ebbw Vale Railway (EVR) has been proposed.  

The existing EVR has opened up a range of options for local residents in 

terms of employment opportunities and access to services and facilities, 

both within area and in the wider region.  

The link to Abertillery, alongside increased 

frequency, will help improve the                           

economic prosperity for the area and 

have a  transformative impact for                         

residents,  businesses and the town centre                          

through increased footfall.  

P
age 119



 

 

 

 

 

  

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

Week 14 Week 15 Week 16 Week 17 Week 18 Week 19 Week 20 Week 21 Week 22 Week 23 Week 24 Week 25 Week 26

Abertillery Town Centre Blaina Town Centre Brynmawr Town Centre

Ebbw Vale Town Centre Tredegar Town Centre

6
1

,5
7

3
 p

e
o

p
le

 

2
3

,7
8

0
  

3
8

,7
8

4
 

8
7

,8
3

1
 p

e
o

p
le

  

5
7

,9
8

8
  
p

e
o

p
le

 

8
7

,7
1

2
  
p

e
o

p
le

  

1
0

8
,2

0
9

  
p

e
o

p
le

  

6
3

,1
9

1
 p

e
o

p
le

 

7
5

,0
2

8
  
p

e
o

p
le

 

5
3

,9
5

1
  
p

e
o

p
le

 

6
4

,8
7

1
  
p

e
o

p
le

 

4
2

,4
2

4
  

4
5

,6
2

4
 p

e
o

p
le

 

2
6

,4
8

1
  

2
7

,1
6

5
  

 

Footfall is an important factor influencing our 

town centre vitality and viability.  Sensors count 

the number of shoppers visiting our town centres 

and provide analytical data on how individual 

town  centres are performing and how shoppers 

are using them. 

 

The data from footfall monitoring allows the 

Council to be better equipped to make                    

evidenced based decisions on the popularity 

and effectiveness of current and future projects 

in  Town Centres. 

P
age 120



 

 

 
Public consultation was undertaken tail end of 20/21; responses varied and will be considered in plans 

moving forward . 

A consultation process has started and an initial consultation 

with residents undertaken in early 2021 to obtain their views on a residential-led 

development. The survey was sent to approximately 262 households. 58 responses 

were received with 73% rejecting the proposal on the basis of concerns around                 

anti-social behaviour and parking. Further consultation will be undertaken with 

residents responding to their initial feedback on the proposal, looking at how the 

proposal can be designed to address the concerns raised. This will be an ongoing 

process with the aim of identifying an appropriate and deliverable proposal 

for the Pit Head Baths site. 

 

 - Surveys to determine compliant access undertaken.  Registered Social Landlord engaged to consider 

access design options and associated traffic management to facilitate a compliant access to the site.  

We are committed to the regeneration and economic future of Blaenau Gwent and to working with partners to bring                 

disused sites in the county  borough back into use.  

 
 - Work to discharge conditions associated with the funding opportunity progressing.  

The Urbanists have been commissioned to undertake an options appraisal and development framework to 

support the progression on the site for future development, following the Civic Centre Closure and de-cant.  Commission will be 

concluded during Quarter 2 to inform next steps.  

 Sold to a private developer, with aspiration to develop retail and possible residential development. Council 

involvement going forward will be dependent on the owners aspiration.  

P
age 121



 

 

P
age 122



The success of a pioneering Apprenticeship Programme that is breathing new life into the advanced manufacturing sector across two 

South Wales local authority areas has been recognised with a prestigious national award. Aspire Blaenau Gwent & Merthyr Tydfil’s 

Shared Apprenticeship Programme won the Large Employer of the Year award at the virtual Apprenticeship Awards Cymru 2021 

ceremony in June. 

The Shared Apprenticeship Programme was created six years ago to tackle high 

unemployment and relatively low skill levels within the manufacturing industry . 

The programme has directly benefited 123 apprentices as well as companies that 

have adopted its innovative approach. Learners are rotated around host employers 

to plug skills gaps by training on-the-job and working to achieve units towards their 

apprenticeship. 

 

Celebrating outstanding achievement in training and apprenticeships, the Apprenticeship Awards Cymru 2021 saw 35 finalists compete 

in 12 categories. 

Highlight of the work-based learning calendar, the awards showcased businesses and individuals who have excelled on the Welsh 

Government’s Apprenticeship and Traineeship Programmes and gone the extra mile to achieve success during these unprecedented 

times. 

Jointly organised by the Welsh Government and the National Training Federation for Wales (NTfW), the awards had Openreach, the UK’s 

digital network business and passionate supporter of apprenticeships, as the headline sponsor. 

The Apprenticeship Programme in Wales is funded by the Welsh Government with support from the European Social Fund. Welsh 

Government apprenticeship programmes have benefitted 50,360 people across South East Wales since May 2016. 

Aspire’s Shared Apprenticeship Programme was first established in 2015 when Ebbw Vale Enterprise Zone Board identified a significant 

lack of employees with skills at Level 3 and above in Blaenau Gwent. Two years later, Merthyr Tydfil joined to develop its business growth 

and enhance skills whilst tackling unemployment. 

Aspire is now working with both Coleg y Cymoedd, who link with Coleg Gwent, and Coleg Merthyr Tydfil to foster the next generation of 

skilled workers through apprenticeships covering Electrical Engineering, Mechanical Engineering, ICT, Applied Science, Quality 

Engineering as well as Business/Commercial Administration and Finance. 

With a target to recruit 20 new apprentices every year, Aspire has achieved a 100% success rate through a team facilitating their 

employment with hosts and then dealing with any issues as they occur. More than 30 employers have engaged with the programme. 

P
age 123



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Work is now complete on 8 new dual electric vehicle charging points in Blaenau Gwent, and they are available for use. 

In partnership with its fellow local authorities in Gwent, the Council was awarded a share of £465,000 funding from the UK                                                         

Government’s Office for Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV) to start to develop the infrastructure for the vehicles of the future.  

A joint bid was put together by the authorities, supported by the Energy Saving Trust and submitted by Blaenau Gwent Council.            

The project has also been supported by the Welsh Government and Natural Resources Wales. 

In Blaenau Gwent there are now charge points installed in car parks in: 

Blaenau Gwent Council’s Executive Member for Regeneration & Economic Development, Councillor Dai Davies, said: 

“Our commitment as a Council to protecting our environment and helping to address the climate emergency remains strong, and we 

continue to support renewable energy and the move towards becoming a carbon neutral organisation in the future. The use of electric 

vehicles is very important in this vision and we’re delighted to have worked with partners across the region on this exciting project, 

which is a milestone in establishing an infrastructure across Gwent that will provide our residents with the opportunity to drive  

electric vehicles.” 

The Council will also shortly be consulting over the introduction of Control of Use Orders for the bays in order to ensure they are used 

for the intended purpose of charging vehicles. 

Colliers Row, Ebbw Vale,                  

NP23 6ES 

Abertillery Sports Centre,                 

NP13 1QD 

King St/Worcester Street,                  

Brynmawr, NP23 4FD 

High Street, Blaina,                             

NP13 3AF 

P
age 124

https://www.blaenau-gwent.gov.uk/fileadmin/images/Resident/Electric_Car_Charging_Locations/4.2_High_Street__Blaina_Blaina_NP11_7JN.png


Executive Committee and Council only 
Date signed off by the Monitoring Officer: 
Date signed off by the Section 151 Officer:  

 

Committee:  Regeneration Scrutiny Committee 

Date of meeting: 15th September 2021 

Report Subject: Investment in Micro-Hydro Development 

Portfolio Holder: 
 

Councillor D. Davies, Executive Member for 
Regeneration and Economic Development & Deputy 
Leader 

Report Submitted by: 
 

Amy Taylor, Team Manager Regeneration 
Opportunities 

 

Reporting Pathway 
Directorate 

Management 
Team 

Corporate 
Leadership 

Team 

Portfolio 
Holder / 

Chair 

Audit 
Committee 

Democratic 
Services 

Committee 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

Executive 
Committee 

Council Other 
(please 
state) 

23.08.21 26.08.21 05.09.21   15.09.21 22.09.21   

 

1. Purpose of the Report 
 

1.1 1.1 To provide members with an update on progress of the Micro-Hydro 
Feasibility Study for Cwm and Llanhilleth wards and seek support for the 
next steps for this part of the Project. 
 

2. Scope and Background 
 

2.1 In October 2015, the Council’s Executive Committee received a report on 
the proposed development of a Regeneration Energy Projects Programme 
and agreed to support the proposal for the Environment and Regeneration 
Directorate to continue the development of a series of Projects. 
 

2.2 The series of Projects were to be designed in order to address a number 
of challenges including: 
 

 Supply of lower cost energy (smarter selection of providers); 

 Reducing energy losses (such improvements to building fabric); 

 Reducing usage through behavioural change (using less); and 

 Potentially through the generation (and movement) of energy. 
  
2.3 Aligned to this, Regeneration has a commitment to managing a sustainable 

future energy delivery programme to allow a choice of affordable energy 
and to reduce fuel poverty for future generations, with the aim of: 
 

 Improving the choice of supply; 

 Developing models that enable community ownership of energy; 
and 

 Meeting the energy needs of vulnerable households. 
 

2.4 A range of measures are in place, as part of efforts to mitigate these key 
challenges and meet the aims set out within the Corporate Plan, including: 

Page 125

Agenda Item 10



  
 

  

 Development of a local energy prospectus, as a tool to prompt and 
stimulate proactive engagement with the energy sector; 

 Managing a research and development programme, to support 
delivery of affordable renewable energy provision for business, 
commercial and communities; and 

 Exploring collaborative working opportunities to stimulate 
development including partnership working across the commercial, 
industrial, private and public sector. 

 
2.5 As part of these measures, the Regeneration Opportunities Team have 

been exploring the potential to develop a range of renewable energy 
generation opportunities, including small scale hydro (micro-hydro) 
generation projects across the Borough. 
 

2.6 Hydropower Generation is the term used for harnessing the energy stored 
in moving water and converting it into useful energy. The two main 
elements affecting the amount of energy that can be produced are the flow 
rate of the water and the height that the water will drop (the ‘head’). Micro-
hydro is generally defined as having an output of between 2 and 50kWp 
(power at full capacity). 
 

2.7 In 2017, Carbon Trust reported on Hydro potential in Blaenau Gwent as 
part of a borough wider study of potential renewable energy generation 
including wind, solar and hydro schemes. Subsequently in 2018, 
researchers at Cardiff University were tasked with identifying sites worthy 
of further exploration for hydro generation. Through this work Cardiff 
University identified eleven sites for further identification. 
 

2.8 The eleven sites identified by Cardiff University were further narrowed 
down by researchers at Bangor and Dublin Universities under the Dŵr 
Uisce project. Researchers used the estimated flows provided by Cardiff 
University to determine suitable turbines and the payback they would 
represent. Sites with high paybacks were ruled out leaving the below sites 
remaining: 
 
a) Anvil Court 
b) Sirhowy Tributary 
c) Cwmtillery Lake 
d) Carno Reservoir 
e) Silent Valley 
 

2.9 The sites above were then identified as potential projects within the 
Blaenau Gwent Energy Prospectus which was approved by Regeneration 
Scrutiny Committee and Executive Committee in December 2019. 
 

2.10 In September 2020 an application was submitted to the Welsh Government 
Rural Communities – Rural Development Programme under the LEADER 
scheme for funding to undertake a Community Hydro Study of potential 
opportunities within the electoral wards of Llanhilleth and Cwm. 
 

Page 126



  
 

  

2.11 The funding was awarded in December 2020 and together with funding 
from within the Council we issued a Contract Notice for a supplier to 
undertake two work packages: 
 

 A review of the sites previously identified through the work of 
Cardiff and Bangor Universities and develop full feasibility studies 
for up to two sites.  

 

 Review sites within the Cwm and Llanhilleth Wards to identify 
potential opportunities and select up to two sites to develop full 
feasibility studies.  

 
2.12 As a result of the tendering process, a preferred supplier: Dulas Ltd were 

appointed to undertake the two work packages as detailed above.  As a 
result of funding deadlines, Dulas started with analysis of the Cwm and 
Llanhilleth Wards and this report will cover the outcomes of this work 
package.  A further report will be presented to cover the second work 
package and sites identified within the Energy Prospectus later this year.    
 

2.13 Under the commission Dulas were asked to provide full feasibility studies 
for up to two sites worth further investigation and their objectives were to: 
 

a) Establish all sites with the potential for hydropower from an initial 
desk based assessment; 

b) Site walkover visit and confirmation/revision of layout options; 
c) Undertake catchment analysis and hydrological estimation of flow 

data; 
d) Review technical options; 
e) Estimate power output and energy generation for each site; 
f) Carry out initial consultation with Natural Resources Eales, Western 

Power Distribution and the Local Planning Authority. 
g) Estimate budget costs and revenue 

 
2.14 Dulas have identified two schemes worth further investigation which are: 

 
1. Cwm Cnyw  
2. Cwm Big 

 
 Cwm Cynw 
2.15 The Feasibility Study identified there is potential for a 15 – 25kW hydro 

scheme at Cwm Cynw with a power output of 17kW and average 
generation of 55MWh a year. This is the equivalent of powering 14 average 
homes for a year.  
 

2.16 The scheme design is based on an intake 200m or so upstream from where 
the stream enters the culvert and a powerhouse next to the railway line in 
‘Granny’s Wood’. The pipeline would be ~ 1,000m in length and run behind 
houses and across a brown-field site next to the Pit Head Baths, before 
crossing the B4471 via an existing underpass which is used to access 

Page 127



  
 

  

‘Granny’s Wood’. Please refer to Appendix One for site location plan and 
proposed site layout plan. 
 

2.17 Dulas has provided estimate budget costs for the scheme based on quotes 
for equipment and grid connection costs from Western Power Distribution 
(WPD). The estimate cost of the scheme ranges from £120k to £240k 
based on a lower and upper estimate of costs based on the type of 
technology and equipment options available. The proposed scheme would 
have a design life of around 40 – 50 years. Please see Appendix Two for 
a breakdown of the costs. 
 

2.18 Dulas has modelled the annual revenue based on a range of scenarios 
which includes: 
 

 Export only at a rate of 5.5p/kWh - £3,025 

 Sleeved Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) at 11p/kWh - £6,050 

 Internal PPA at 13p/kWh - £7,150 

 Internal PPA during a wet year at 13p/kWh - £7,930 

 Internal PPA during a dry year at 13p/kWh - £6,110 
 

 Cwm Big 
2.19 The Feasibility Study identified there is potential for a 20 – 30kW hydro 

scheme at Cwm Big with a power output of 28kW and average generation 
of 62mWh a year. This is the equivalent of powering 16 average homes for 
a year. 
 

2.20 The scheme design is based on an intake just inside the Cwm ward 
boundary at Aberbeeg and a powerhouse near the A4046. The pipeline 
would follow an existing forestry track that services Natural Resources 
Wales (NRW) Cwm Big plantation. The Feasibility Study identified there is 
plenty of space for site compounds and construction access which would 
make the construction process straight forward. Please see Appendix 
Three for site location plan and proposed site layout plan. 
 

2.21 Dulas has provided estimate budget costs for the scheme based on quotes 
for equipment and grid connection costs from WPD. The estimate cost of 
the scheme ranges from £150k to £350k based on a lower and upper 
estimate of costs based on the type of technology and equipment options 
available. The proposed scheme would have a design life of around 40 – 
50 years. Please see Appendix Four for a breakdown of the costs. 
 

2.22 Part of the reason for the difference between the lower and upper cost 
estimates for this scheme is due to the grid connection cost. Currently there 
is only a single phase supply to the nearby dwellings with a grid pole near 
the culvert entrance. This would need to be upgraded for the new grid 
connection which would consist of laying a new HV cable in the verge of 
the main road near the medical centre to a pole near the powerhouse plus 
installation of a 50kVA pole mounted transformer. The budget estimate 
received from WPD for this is £100k plus VAT. 
 

Page 128



  
 

  

2.23 Dulas has identified another option which could be considered for the grid 
connection which is a split phase connection. Dulas has indicated this 
option could reduce the cost of the grid connection. WPD have confirmed 
they will not carry out further assessments of the options without the 
Council commissioning a feasibility study. 
 

2.24 Dulas has modelled the annual revenue based on a range of scenarios 
which includes: 
 

 Export only at a rate of 5.5p/kWh - £3,410 

 Sleeved PPA at 11p/kWh - £6,820 

 Internal PPA at 13p/kWh - £8,060 

 Internal PPA during a wet year at 13p/kWh - £9,490 

 Internal PPA during a dry year at 13p/kWh - £6,500 
 

3. Options for Recommendation  
 
Option One – Do Nothing 
 

3.1 The Council could choose not to take these schemes forward for further 
investigation and development.  The projects would be closed from the 
current point and would only be revisited should costs significantly reduce 
or new technologies become available.   

  
 Option Two – Proceed with further investigation and development of one 

scheme 
  
3.2 This option would consist of the Council moving forward to business stage 

with one of the two schemes identified. Due to the complexities of the grid 
connection issues at Cwm Big it would be easier to move forward with the 
Cwm Cynw scheme in the short term. The WPD Feasibility Study for the 
grid connection at Cwm Big could be commissioned at the same time to 
allow for full understanding of the scheme costs. 
 

3.3 It would require the Council to secure some initial capital funds for the 
development of a detailed Micro-Hydro scheme to enable the preparation 
of a business case to proceed. This would include procurement of technical 
design services and surveys required with a view to developing a business 
case for installation and commissioning stage.  As outlined in section 5 it is 
expected that between £15k to £30k would be required for the business 
case development. 

  
3.4 Even with further work to develop the business case it is not likely that the 

system size would increase significantly beyond the current estimates of 
17kW if at all. 

  
 Preferred Option – Option One 

 
3.5 The preferred option based upon the findings of the feasibility study is 

Option One.  Whilst the development of hydro generation would provide 

Page 129



  
 

  

some renewable energy to support local energy demands the level of 
production is extremely low when compared to the level of investment 
required for its initial development and ongoing operations.   The scheme 
at Cwm Cynw offers the best potential but even with this it is likely to only 
be able to accommodate a 17kW system.  By way of comparison a general 
domestic shower would be around 10kW. 

  
3.6 It is therefore recommended that Scrutiny endorse the preferred option to 

not proceed further with investigations into hydro generation within the 
Cwm and Llanhilleth wards. 

  
4. Evidence of how does this topic supports the achievement of the 

Corporate Plan / Statutory Responsibilities / Blaenau Gwent Well-
being Plan 
 

 Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 
4.1 Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 was released in February 2021 and 

it is the framework for planning the change and development needed in 
Wales over the next 20 years. It will be used to guide planning decisions 
made in Wales across a range of areas including energy supplies. 
 

4.2 Every house and workplace needs heat and energy. Future Wales aims to 
get them in a clean way. This means using ways that don’t involve things 
that are running out and bad for the environment such as coal and oil. 
 

4.3 Welsh Government has set the following targets for the generation of 
renewable energy: 
 

 For 70% of electricity consumption to be generated from renewable 
energy by 2030 

 For one gigawatt of renewable energy capacity to be locally owned 
by 2030 

 For renewable energy projects to have at least an element of local 
ownership from 2020 

  
4.4 One of the future Wales Outcomes is to create ‘A Wales where people live 

in places which are decarbonised and climate-resilient’. Decarbonisation 
commitments and renewable energy targets will be treated as opportunities 
to build a more resilient and equitable low carbon economy, develop clean 
and efficient transport infrastructure, improve public health and generate 
skilled jobs in new sectors. 
Policy 17 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and associated 
infrastructure.  
 

4.5 Welsh Government strongly supports the principle of developing renewable 
and low carbon energy from all technologies and at all scales to meet our 
future energy needs. 
 
 
 

Page 130



  
 

  

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
4.6 Welsh Government ‘Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 – 

directly aligns with local renewable energy generation. Under The Act it 
states: 
 
‘A prosperous Wales’ goal, striving towards creating an innovative, 
productive and low carbon society, which develops a skilled and well-
educated population in an economy which generates wealth and provides 
employment opportunities, allowing people to take advantage of the wealth 
generated through securing decent work’. 
 

4.7 There is also a direct link to the well-being goal for ‘A globally responsible 
Wales’ in tackling climate change. The Act encourages long term 
generation thinking by public bodies to improve the economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-being of Wales.  
 

 Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Corporate Plan Refresh 2020-
2022 

4.8 This topic supports the achievement of the Council’s Corporate Plan 
Refresh 2020-2022 in the following areas: 
 

 To create strong and environmentally smart communities we are 
taking a strategic approach to the management of our land in 
different ways; 

 To be a carbon neutral Council by 2030; 

 To develop a portfolio of potential energy opportunities to deliver 
economic, business and community benefits; and 

 To develop a more commercial organisation to generate income and 
deliver cost reductions to make local services sustainable and raise 
money to re-invest in our priorities. 

 
 Energy Prospectus 
4.9 The Energy Prospectus identified opportunities for energy projects across 

Blaenau Gwent including hydro powered energy generation, Wind Energy 
generation, EV charging infrastructure and district heating. The proposed 
Micro-Hydro scheme is one of these opportunities. 
 

5. Implications Against Each Option  
 

5.1 Impact on Budget 
 The cost estimate breakdown for the schemes are contained in Appendices 

Two and Four. Final costings will not be known until a full detailed scheme 
design including identification of the technology to be purchased has been 
undertaken. 
 

 Option One – Do Nothing. 
5.2 There would be no financial costs associated with Option One. 

 
 

Page 131



  
 

  

Option Two –Proceed with further investigation and development of one 
scheme 

5.3 Financial costs associated with Option Two will depend upon the final size 
of the scheme, complexities of the scheme and who is appointed to 
undertake the work.  For the purposes of this report we have assumed that 
the scheme would remain at 17kW.  
 

5.4 The detailed design stage of the Project would cost between £15k to £30k.  
This would be used to support development of an overall business case for 
the implementation of the scheme.  
 

5.5 As the focus is on providing the energy generated to the local community it 
has been considered that the energy generated from the Cwm Cynw 
scheme could be provided to either Llanhilleth Industrial Estate or 
Llanhilleth Institute. This would be based on the sleeved PPA scenario 
above.  However, this would only generate approximately £6,000 p.a. 

  
5.6 The table below provides a simple payback analysis of the project.  It 

shows that the project would have payback of around 40 years.  
 

Total Capital Cost £240,000 

Annual Revenues £6,000 p.a. 

Simple Payback 40 Years 
 

  
5.7 The costs and payback period calculated above do not make provision for 

operational costs and lifetime replacement costs.  Although the turbines 
could last up to 40 years within this lifetime there will be parts that will 
require replacement.  This could include major replacements e.g. main 
turbine.  The life and/or maintenance requirements of the pipework is 
currently unknown.  

  
 Risk including Mitigating Actions 
5.8 There is a risk that once the detailed design stage has taken place that the 

Council decides not to take these scheme forward. 
 

5.9 There is a risk that planning consent and abstraction consent is not be 
approved for the project. Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council would 
be the planning authority for the project. If the planning consent is refused 
there would be no opportunity to appeal the decision. 

  
5.10 There are risks around landownership for the project.  The land that the 

pipework and infrastructure will need to cross is currently in mixed 
ownership therefore negotiation and agreement with landowners will be 
required in order for the project to proceed.  

  
5.11 Although technology continually improves there is a risk that there would 

be noise pollution to nearby receptors.  The turbine when operating may 
generate noise that could present a slight disturbance to nearby properties.  
This may result in negative feedback from local residents in close proximity.  

  

Page 132



  
 

  

5.12 There is a risk that ongoing maintenance would likely be high and whilst 
the turbine would have an overall life of around 40 years it would need 
some significant replacements of parts during this period.  

  
5.9 Risk will be managed throughout the project in line with the Council’s risk 

management strategy and a risk register shall be established following 
approval of this report. 
 

 Legal 
5.10 Procurement to appoint suitably qualified consultants was completed in line 

with the Council’s Contract and Procurement Rules (CPRs) and 
Procurement regulations. The procurement was advertised on Sell2Wales 
and other required platforms. 
 

 Human Resources  
5.11 Project management would be led within Regeneration with support from 

other departments including Finance, Procurement, Estates and Planning. 
 

5.12 Technical and design support will be provided from within the Council’s 
technical service team where possible and where parts of the technology 
are outside of their area of expertise support will be sought from Welsh 
Government Energy Service and/or external technical specialists in the 
area of hydro generation technology. 
 

6. Supporting Evidence  
 

 Performance Information and Data 
6.1 Welsh Government have set the following targets for the generation of 

renewable energy across Wales: 
 

 For 70% of electricity consumption to be generated from renewable 
energy by 2030. 

 For one gigawatt of renewable energy capacity to be locally owned 
by 2030. 

 For renewable energy projects to have at least an element of local 
ownership from 2020. 

 
6.2 Alongside installation of the Micro-Hydro scheme we would also look to 

monitor overall performance, energy generation, carbon savings and 
financial savings. Performance monitoring arrangements will be 
established during the development stage of the Project and would start 
being monitored once the installation has been commissioned. 
 

 Expected outcome for the public 
6.3 Increasing the amount of renewable energy generated locally and providing 

this to the local community will help reduce fuel poverty for local businesses 
and allow them to benefit from access to local renewable energy sources. 
 

Page 133



  
 

  

6.4 By offering the community green bond shares in the Project through the 
CMI scheme will provide community ownership of renewables and raise 
awareness of the work the Council is undertaking with local residents.  
 

6.5 Increasing local renewable energy will also help to reduce the amount of 
carbon the Council utilises and our impact upon the global environment. 
 

 Involvement (consultation, engagement, participation) 
6.6 Council Officers have been providing support and background information 

of the ward areas to consultants Dulas and feedback on proposed 
schemes. Recommendation of sites from Elected Members were provided 
to Dulas to investigate. 
 

6.7 Officers from within Technical Services have been consulted on this report 
and have confirmed that they support the preferred option of this report.  

  
 Thinking for the Long term (forward planning)  
6.8 Targets around renewable energy have been set by Welsh Government 

and these will also be support by Carbon Reduction targets. Development 
of locally owned renewable energy will help Blaenau Gwent meet these 
targets. 
 

6.9 The Council has declared a Climate Emergency and in order to 
decarbonise for the future we need to look for a range of projects including 
renewable energy generation and energy efficiency. 
 

 Preventative focus  
6.10 Climate change can be prevented by reducing our overall impact upon the 

Planet. Increasing locally generated renewable energy would help to 
reduce our overall impact and mitigate against climate change. 
 

 Collaboration / partnership working 
6.11 Opportunities for collaboration with partnership working will be explored 

with a range of potential partners including Dwr Cymru and potential local 
energy users. 
 

 Integration (across service areas) 
6.12 Officers from across several service areas have involved in discussions on 

the project and kept up to date on progress.  It is intended that officers will 
continue to be involved throughout the development of the designs and 
overall business case for the Project.  

  
6.13 The Team Manager Natural Environment has participated in discussions 

with the consultants Dulas and given support for the Cwm Cynw Scheme 
which would link up with the active travel route at ‘Granny’s Wood’. 
Opportunities to utilise the energy generated by the scheme locally have 
been considered. The more energy that is used locally the more the 
financial case for the Project improves. This will be discussed further in the 
impact on budget section of this report. 
 

Page 134



  
 

  

 Decarbonisation and Reducing Carbon Emissions 
6.14 Development of renewable energy generation will support the Council to 

meet its decarbonisation targets and support overall reduction of carbon 
emissions.  

  
7. Monitoring Arrangements  

 
7.1 Monitoring of the project will be done through the Council’s business plan 

reporting process and by providing progress reports through the political 
process. 
 

 Background Documents /Electronic Links  

 Appendix One – Cwm Cynw Site Location Plan and Proposed Site 
Layout Plan 

 Appendix Two – Cwm Cynw Cost Breakdown 

 Appendix Three – Cwm Big Site Location Plan and Proposed Site 
Layout Plan 

 Appendix Four – Cwm Big Cost Breakdown 
 

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 137



Page 138



Appendix Two – Cwm Cynw Cost Breakdown 

Following receipt of budget quotes the budget costs for the Cwm Cynw scheme is as 

follows: 

 Lower estimate Upper estimate 

Detailed design & tender pack £15,000 £30,000 

Project management & site supervision £15,000 £25,000 

Turbine, generator & control £20,000 £30,000 

Pipeline material £15,000 £25,000 

Civil works £30,000 £100,000 

Grid connection £20,000 £25,000 

Commissioning £5,000 £5,000 

Total budget cost (exc. VAT) £120,000 £240,000 

 

Operational Costs 

Operating costs have been taken as a nominal 20% of revenue – actual costs will 

vary depending on site specific variable as well as Council protocols for 

infrastructure management. 

The proposed scheme would have a design life of around 40 – 50 years with electro-

mechanical refurbishment every 15 – 20 years. 

 

Grid Connection - WPD Budget Estimate 

WPD Reference 3985873 

Connection 25kVA 3-phase 400v connection 

Description of works WPD to install new pole, stay & 
overhead span with a LV 
underground service 

Contestable works £18,515 

Non-contestable works  £1,223 

VAT at 20% £3,948 

Total £23,686 

 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix Four – Cwm Big Cost Breakdown 

Following receipt of budget quotes the budget costs for the Cwm Big scheme is as 

follows: 

 Lower estimate Upper estimate 

Detailed design & tender pack £15,000 £30,000 

Project management & site supervision £15,000 £25,000 

Turbine, generator & control £30,000 £50,000 

Pipeline materials £20,000 £40,000 

Civil works £40,000 £100,000 

Grid connection £20,000 £100,000 

Commissioning £5,000 £5,000 

Total budget cost (exc. VAT) £150,000 £350,000 

 

Operational Costs 

Operating costs have been taken as a nominal 20% of revenue – actual costs will 

vary depending on site specific variables as well as Council protocols for 

infrastructure management.  

The proposed scheme would have a design life of around 40 – 50 years with electro-

mechanical refurbishment every 15 – 20 years. 

 

Grid Connection – WPD budget estimate 

WPD reference 3985868 3985883 

Connection 25kVA 3-phase 400V 30kW 3-phase 400V 

Description of works WPD to excavate & lay 
11kV cable, establish PMT 
with connection for 25kVA 

WPD to install a 11kV 
cable & PMT with a 30kW 
connection 

Contestable works £95,995 £95,995 

Non-contestable works £4,524 £4,524 

VAT at 20% £20,104 £20,104 

Total £120,623 £120,623 

 

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



Executive Committee and Council only 
Date signed off by the Monitoring Officer: 
Date signed off by the Section 151 Officer:  

 

Committee:  Regeneration Scrutiny Committee 

Date of meeting:  15th September 2021 

Report Subject:  Partnership Delivery Approach – Town Centres   

Portfolio Holder:  Councillor D. Davies, Executive Member for 
Regeneration and Economic Development & Deputy 
Leader 

Report Submitted by:  Amy Taylor, Team Manager Regeneration 
Opportunities 

 

Reporting Pathway 
Directorate 

Management 
Team 

Corporate 
Leadership 

Team 

Portfolio 
Holder / 

Chair 

Audit 
Committee 

Democratic 
Services 

Committee 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

Executive 
Committee 

Council Other 
(please 
state) 

15.06.21 x    x x   

 

1.  Purpose of the Report 
  

1.1.  To seek support for the formulation of Town Centre Advisory Boards across the 
Town Centres of Abertillery, Brynmawr and Ebbw Vale to support a partnership 
delivery approach for future project delivery. 

  
2.  Scope and Background 

  
2.1.  In 2015, Members provided approval for the formulation of an Advisory Board to 

support delivery of the Townscape Heritage Initiative (THI) and Vibrant and 
Viable Places (VVP) Programmes within the Town of Tredegar. 

  
2.2.  The establishment of an Advisory Board was an obligation under the funding 

terms and conditions of both the THI and VVP programmes.  It was intended that 
the Board would oversee the delivery of projects for both funding programmes 
and it would be a consultative body who would advise on the control and 
management of the THI and VVP initiatives in Tredegar. 

  
2.3.  Since 2015, the Advisory Board has worked alongside Council Officers and 

Elected Members to deliver projects in Tredegar and this approach has received 
positive feedback from all stakeholders involved.  

  
2.4.  A placemaking approach is being developed across the Towns within Blaenau 

Gwent.  These will establish key visions and projects to deliver across each of 
the Towns but there are some challenges we face in order to deliver on these 
plans. 

  
2.5.  The Council only has limited financial and human resources in order to deliver 

projects.  Therefore, we need to look at ways we can involve other key 
stakeholders and partners to achieve our vision. 

  
 

Page 147

Agenda Item 11



  
 

  

2.6.  The Tredegar Advisory Board has provided a platform for both discussion, 
development and delivery of projects.  Adopting a similar approach across each 
of the other towns could help the Council to support projects across each of the 
Towns supported by a wide range of stakeholders. 

  
2.7.  Stakeholders could include potential funders, project delivery partners, Elected 

Members, business forms and any other key groups. 
  

3.  Options for Recommendation  
  
 Option One  
  

3.1.  That the Members support and recommend approval by the Executive 
Committee for the formation of a series of Advisory Boards for the Town Centres 
of Abertillery, Brynmawr and Ebbw Vale based upon the Tredegar Advisory 
Board approach and acknowledge the draft Terms of Reference (Appendix 
One).  The Advisory Board shall act as a consultative body to oversee 
development and delivery of Town Centre Strategies and Plans.  

  
3.2.  Each shall start with a small membership identified by members of the Town 

Centres Task and Finish Group alongside Officers.  The membership can then 
be expanded and developed further as discussions develop. 

  
 Option Two 
  

3.3.  No action is taken and delivery continues using existing approaches and 
mechanisms for engagement and consultation. 

  
 Preferred Option  
  

3.4.  Option one is the preferred option and we propose that the Advisory Board is 
initially established with members for a one-year term up until the Welsh Local 
Government Elections in 2022.   

  
3.5.  If the initial one-year term is successful, the boards would continue and board 

members would serve for up to a 3-year period.  
  

3.6.  The Executive Member for Economic Development and Regeneration will be 
invited to chair the first meeting of each of the Boards.  In their first meeting each 
Board will then nominate and select a chairperson to oversee the term of the 
Board (initially one-year, three years thereafter). 

  
4.  Evidence of how does this topic supports the achievement of the Corporate 

Plan / Statutory Responsibilities / Blaenau Gwent Well-being Plan 
  

4.1.  The report supports the following Corporate Plan priorities: 
 

 To protect and enhance our environment and infrastructure to benefit our 
communities; 

 To support a fairer sustainable economy and community; and 

Page 148



  
 

  

 An ambitious and innovative council delivering the quality services we 
know matter to our communities. 

 
The Town Centre strategy will consider existing infrastructure within our town 
centres and explore ways that this can change to support regeneration activity. 

  
4.2.  It also supports delivery of the Blaenau Gwent Well-being Plan: 

 

 Safe and friendly communities; 

 To look after and protect the environment; 

 To forge new pathways to prosperity; and 

 To encourage and enable people to make healthy lifestyle choices in the 
places that they live, learn, work and play 

 
The Town Centre strategy will seek to ensure that our town centres are safe and 
friendly communities for our residents and visitors to shop within.  This will 
include projects to maintain and enhance the local environment, increase 
business occupancy and create an environment in our town centres that 
encourages our residents to spend time there for work, learning and leisure. 

  
4.3.  In supporting our statutory responsibilities towards the Wellbeing of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act, the Town Centre Strategy will support in creating: 
 

 A more prosperous Wales; 

 A resilient Wales; and 

 A Wales of cohesive communities 
  

5.  Implications Against Each Option  
  
 Cost  
  

5.1.  There are no direct cost implications associated with this report. 
  
 Risk including Mitigating Actions 
  

5.2.  There is a risk that new Advisory Boards are not as successful as the Board that 
has been operating in Tredegar.  To mitigate this, we will adapt and refine the 
Advisory Board approach to ensure that it continues to support project delivery.  
Should the Advisory Board approach not be successful and cause barriers to 
project delivery we will review the approach and any further changes that may 
be required.  

  
5.3.  There is a risk that the Advisory Board does not support a proposed approach 

for a Town Centre.  In these cases we will be able to utilise the feedback from 
the Advisory Board to understand the issues/barriers and use this to adapt our 
approach to ensure a positive outcome. 

  
5.4.  There is a risk that we are unable to properly resource and support Advisory 

Board set up across all Towns identified in section 3.1.  As a result of the 
placemaking work already carried out set up will start with the set-up of the 

Page 149



  
 

  

Advisory Boards in Brynmawr and Ebbw Vale.  Once these are fully set-up we 
will move onto Abertillery. 

  
 Legal 
  

5.5.  A terms of reference will be established for the members of the Advisory Board 
and these will be reviewed alongside the stakeholders and the Executive 
Member for Regeneration and Economic Development at each of the initial 
meetings of the Advisory Boards.  

  
 Human Resources 
  

5.6.  Overseeing projects approved by the Advisory Boards may have implications on 
existing staffing resources from Officers in Regeneration and where possible we 
will seek to perform a supporting role to the Advisory Boards.  It will act as a key 
stakeholder for Projects in each of the respective areas.  

  
5.7.  Setting up advisory boards across all the Towns at the same time could have 

resourcing issues and so we are proposing to start with Brynmawr and Ebbw 
Vale followed by Abertillery. 

  
6.  Supporting Evidence  

  
 Performance Information and Data  
  

6.1.  Annual reports of the Advisory Boards will be prepared and reported to the 
Regeneration Scrutiny Committee and Executive Committee.  This will enable 
monitoring of performance of the Advisory Boards and areas for further 
development.  

  
 Expected outcome for the public 
  

6.2.  It is hoped that by bringing Advisory Boards together we will be able to deliver 
projects that encourage future use of our Town Centres.  Changing the way our 
Town Centres operate and offering a diverse range of uses would improve the 
variety of services that residents have access to.  

  
 Involvement (consultation, engagement, participation) 

  
6.3.  Advisory Boards provide a mechanism for engagement with key stakeholders 

across each of the Towns.  They can bring forward their own proposals / thoughts 
for projects for consultation with other Board Members and they can also provide 
their thoughts / feedback on proposals put forward by other Board Members or 
the Local Authority.  

  
 Thinking for the Long term (forward planning) 
  

6.4.  In the long term the Council needs to find ways to work with Stakeholders across 
Blaenau Gwent but with only limited resources we need to find ways of 
encouraging other stakeholders to develop and deliver projects.  The Council 

Page 150



  
 

  

can still support these projects but accountability and resourcing could be 
brought forward from other organisations.  This could result in projects receiving 
greater local support and increase long term sustainability. 

  
 Preventative focus  
  

6.5.  By establishing Advisory Boards now, we hope to prevent further deterioration of 
our Town Centres.  They all face significant challenges to survive but bringing 
groups of stakeholders who want to support and help could prevent them from 
facing even bigger challenges in the future.  

  
 Collaboration / partnership working 
  

6.6.  The Advisory Boards rely on collaboration / partnership working in order to be 
successful.  By bringing local stakeholders together it is hoped that they can all 
work together to identify and support projects that will benefit their Towns. 

  
 Integration(across service areas) 
  

6.7.  The Advisory Boards will be utilised by the Regeneration Team and other service 
areas as a means of engaging with key stakeholders across the Town Centres.  
It will set up the means of contact for engagement about potential projects across 
the Towns. 

  
7.  Monitoring Arrangements  

  
7.1.  As advised in section 6.1 performance monitoring will be carried out annually 

and reported through the Scrutiny Forward Work Programme.  It will also be 
reported on through the Regeneration Business Plan.  

  
8.  Background Documents /Electronic Links  

 

 Appendix One – Terms of Reference, Advisory Board  
 

Page 151



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

[insert town name] Town Advisory Board 

Terms of Reference 2021 

1.  Statutory Authority 

1.1 The Advisory Board (which shall now be named “The [insert town name] Town 
Advisory Board”) is not constituted as a formal Committee of the Council under 
Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 and is not empowered to 
discharge any executive functions under the Local Government Act 2000. 

2.  Objectives 

2.1 The [insert town name] Town Advisory Board will be responsible for overseeing 
the management of the Regeneration Programme and ensure the following key 
principles are applied to the methodology of the programme delivery: 

a. To assist in designing, programming and delivering events. 

b. To assist the selection process. 

c. To ensure the emergent interpretive and access proposals in accord with the 
underlying vision for the project. 

d. To develop further the interpretive ideas and links with relevant audiences. 

e. To develop further detailed briefs on: 

• Educational delivery 

• Community involvement 

f. To advise on how the scheme might be best developed. 

g. To have a long term advisory involvement in the planning, operation, and 
programming of the project. 

3.  Constituent Members 

3.1 The [insert town name] Town Advisory Board shall consist of one representative 
of each of the following: 

 Executive Member for Regeneration and Economic Development & 
Deputy Leader (BGCBC) 

 Ward Member 

 Town Council 

 Business Forum 

 Tai Calon 

 Coalfields Regeneration Trust 

 BGCBC Officers in an advisory capacity (as requested) 

 And any other local organisations that may be co-opted from time to time 

Page 153



 

  

4.  Power of the Advisory Board  

4.1 Subject to the overall policy and control of Blaenau Gwent County Borough 
Council’s Executive and Scrutiny Committees (or any other appropriate 
Committee of the County Borough Council) the responsibility of the Advisory 
Board shall be advisory and consultative only and for the avoidance of doubt 
the Advisory Board shall not be empowered to do any anything which shall 
conflict with this role or with the Policy for the time being in force of the County 
Borough of Blaenau Gwent as applied to the act or matter under discussion. 

5.  Ownership 

5.1 All properties deemed eligible for funding are will be a mix of public and private 
ownership.  Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council are responsible for the 
upkeep and maintenance of the immediate public realm (including highway). 

6.  Membership of the Advisory Board 

6.1 Membership of the Advisory Board shall be confined to members of the 
Organisations specified in Article 3.1 hereof. Each organisation shall in May of 
each year at their respective annual meetings appoint one representative to 
serve on the Advisory Board for the ensuing 12 months or during such time until 
they cease to be members of the appropriate organisation by reason of death, 
resignation, cease of membership, disqualification or otherwise. 

6.2 Each organisation may nominate, under the hand of its proper officer, a deputy 
for any Member appointed by each organisation to attend and to vote at any 
meeting of the Advisory Board in place of the member so appointed. 

6.3 If at any time any member of the Advisory Board shall cease to be a Member 
of the organisation by whom he was appointed to the Advisory Board, his 
membership of the Advisory Board shall forthwith determine provided that a 
representative member shall not be deemed to have ceased to be a member 
of the organisation by whom he was appointed if on or before the day on which 
he goes out of office, he has been re-elected a member of that organisation. 

6.4 If by reason of death, resignation, loss of qualification disqualification, cessor 
of membership of the appointing organisation, failure to attend meetings or in 
any other manner there shall be a vacancy in the number of representatives of 
either of the organisations on the Advisory Board permitted under the terms of 
this Constitution, the organisation in whose representation the vacancy occurs 
may forthwith fill such vacancy, and the person so elected shall hold office as 
member of the Board until such time as the person whose place he fills would 
regularly retire and shall then retire. 

7.  Meetings 

7.1 The Advisory Board shall hold 6 meetings at least in every year for the 
transaction of general business and may hold such other meetings at such 
intervals as they find necessary or convenient. The first meeting of the Advisory 
Board shall be held on a date to be determined by the Executive Member for 
Regeneration and Economic Development & Deputy Leader of Blaenau Gwent 

Page 154



 

  

county Borough Council, with subsequent meetings also being chaired by the 
elected chairperson. 

8.  Notice 

8.1 Three clear days at least before a meeting of the Advisory Board, the 
Committee Clerk shall cause a summons to attend the meeting, specifying the 
business proposed to be transacted thereat and signed by him/her, to be left 
at, or sent by post to, the usual place of residence of every representative 
Member of the Advisory Board or such other place as may be requested by a 
representative member. 

9.  Chairman 

9.1 The first business at the meeting shall be for the Executive Member to agree 
and confirm the terms of reference of the Advisory Board with its newly elected 
Board Members and to agree an elected Chairperson for the remaining duration 
of the programme. 

9.2 If a representative member fails to attend three successive meetings of the 
Advisory Board, the organisation by whom he was appointed may forthwith 
declare his office to be vacant and his membership of the Advisory Board shall 
thereupon determine. Any such declaration of vacancy shall forthwith be 
signified in writing to the Management Board by the organisation concerned. 

10.  Special Meeting 

10.1 The Chairman of the Advisory Board may call a Special Meeting at any time, 
and of the receipt by him of a requisition signed by at least three representative 
members of the Advisory Board, and setting forth the nature of the matter 
requiring consideration shall call a Special Meeting of the Board within seven 
days. 

10.2 A notice summoning any special meeting shall have thereon the matter to be 
discussed at the said special meeting. 

 

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



Executive Committee and Council only 
Date signed off by the Monitoring Officer: N/A 
Date signed off by the Section 151 Officer: N/A  

 

 
 

Committee:  Regeneration Scrutiny Committee 

Date of meeting: 
 

15th December 2021 

Report Subject: 
 

Forward Work Programme: 3rd November 2021 

Portfolio Holder: 
 

Cllr David Davies, Deputy Leader and Executive 
Member Regeneration and Economic 
Development 

Report Submitted by: 
 

Cllr John Hill, Chair of the Regeneration Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

Reporting Pathway 
Directorate 

Management 
Team 

Corporate 
Leadership 

Team 

Portfolio 
Holder / 

Chair 

Audit 
Committee 

Democratic 
Services 

Committee 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

Executive 
Committee 

Council Other 
(please 
state) 

x x    15.09.21    

 

1. Purpose of the Report 
1.1 To present to Members the Regeneration Scrutiny Committee Forward Work 

Programme for the Meeting on 3rd November 2021 for discussion and 
agreement. 
 

2. Scope and Background 
2.1 
 
 
 
2.2 
 
 
 
2.3 
 
 
2.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.5 

The Scrutiny Work Programmes are key aspects of the Council’s planning 
and governance arrangements and support the requirements of the 
Constitution. 
 
The topics set out in the Forward Work Programme link to the strategic work 
of the Council as identified by the Council’s revised Corporate Plan, 
corporate documents and supporting business plans.  
 
Effective work programmes are essential to ensure that the work of scrutiny 
makes a positive impact upon the Council’s delivery of services. 
 
The Committee’s Forward Work Programme was agreed in June 2021, 
recognising the fluidity of the document to enable the Committee to respond 
to urgent and emerging issues, and included timescales when reports will be 
considered by the Committee.  The work programme is managed and 
implemented by the Scrutiny and Democratic Officer under the direction of 
the Chair and Committee.     
 
The forward work programme for the forthcoming meeting will be presented 
to Committee on a 6 weekly cycle in order that Members can consider the 
programme of work; request information is included within the reports, as 
appropriate and / or make amendments to the work programme. 
 
 
 

Page 157

Agenda Item 12



  
 

2 
 

 
3. Options for Recommendation  
3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.2 

Option 1: The Scrutiny Committee consider the Forward Work Programme 
for the meeting 3rd November 2021, and  

 Make any amendments to the topics scheduled for the meetings; 

 Suggest any additional invitees that the committee requires to fully 
consider the reports; and 

 Request any additional information to be included with regards to the 
topics to be discussed. 

 
Option 2: The Scrutiny Committee agree the Forward Programme for the 
meeting 3rd November 2021, as presented. 
 

 Background Documents /Electronic Links  

 Appendix 1 – Forward Work Programme – Meeting on 3rd November 
2021. 

 
 

  
 

 
 

Page 158



Regeneration Scrutiny Committee Forward Work Programme 

 

 

Date Topic Purpose Lead Executive / 
Council  

 
 
Wednesday 
3rd November 
2021 
 
 
 
Deadline: 20th 
October 2021 

Aneurin Bevan report  

 

Pre-Decision 

To consider and support the report findings and 

recommend approval to the Executive. 

Moe Forouzan Executive 

 

Lime Avenue Business 
Units and Box Works 
Closure report 

Performance Monitoring 
Members to receive the closure report. 

Nick Landers Executive 

Tredegar Place Making 
Plan 

Pre Decision 
Endorse the proposals for placemaking in Tredegar 

Amy Taylor Executive 

STEM Programme Performance Monitoring 
Performance Monitoring report for Members. 

Beth 
McPherson 

Executive 

Kickstart Employment 
Placement  

Performance Monitoring 
Performance Monitoring report for Members. 

Beth 
McPherson 

Executive 

Performance Information 

on the Cardiff Capital 

Region City Deal 

Quarterly  

Performance Monitoring 

Members to consider the activity of Blaenau Gwent 

Council as part of the overall CCRCD and influence 

areas of focus. 

Ellie Fry Council 

Ebbw Vale Placemaking 
Plan 
 
 

Pre Decision 
Endorse the proposals for placemaking in Ebbw Vale 

Amy Taylor Executive 

 

P
age 159



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Cyfarfod Arbennig o’r Pwyllgor Craffu Adfywio
	5 Pwyllgor Craffu Adfywio
	6 Dalen Weithredu – 30 Mehefin 2021
	Ymlyniad

	7 Cyfarfod Arbennig o’r Pwyllgor Craffu Adfywio
	8 Adroddiad cynnydd ar y Cynllun Datgarboneiddio
	Atodiad A
	Atodiad B
	Atodiad C
	Atodiad D
	Atodiad E

	9 Adroddiad Perfformiad Adfywio a Datblygu
	Atodiad 1

	10 Buddsoddiad mewn Datblygu Micro-Hydro
	Atodiad 1
	Atodiad 2
	Atodiad 3
	Atodiad 4

	11 Dull Darparu Partneriaeth – Canol Trefi
	Atodiad 1

	12 Blaenraglen Gwaith: 3 Tachwedd 2021
	Atodiad 1


